

Report no. OxPDE-17/02

STABILITY OF TRANSONIC SHOCKS IN STEADY SUPERSONIC FLOW PAST MULTIDIMENSIONAL WEDGES

by

Gui-Qiang G Chen University of Oxford

and

Beixiang Fang Shanghai Jiao Tong University

Oxford Centre for Nonlinear PDE Mathematical Institute University of Oxford Andrew Wiles Building ROQ, Woodstock Road Oxford, UK OX2 6GG

May 2017

STABILITY OF TRANSONIC SHOCKS IN STEADY SUPERSONIC FLOW PAST MULTIDIMENSIONAL WEDGES

GUI-QIANG CHEN AND BEIXIANG FANG

ABSTRACT. We are concerned with the stability of multidimensional (M-D) transonic shocks in steady supersonic flow past multidimensional wedges. One of our motivations is that the global stability issue for the M-D case is much more sensitive than that for the 2-D case, which requires more careful rigorous mathematical analysis. In this paper, we develop a nonlinear approach and employ it to establish the stability of weak shock solutions containing a transonic shock-front for potential flow with respect to the M-D perturbation of the wedge boundary in appropriate function spaces. To achieve this, we first formulate the stability problem as a free boundary problem for nonlinear elliptic equations. Then we introduce the partial hodograph transformation to reduce the free boundary problem into a fixed boundary value problem near a background solution with fully nonlinear boundary conditions for second-order nonlinear elliptic equations in an unbounded domain. To solve this reduced problem, we linearize the nonlinear problem on the background shock solution and then, after solving this linearized elliptic problem, develop a nonlinear iteration scheme that is proved to be contractive.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. The Shock Polar for Multidimensional Shock-Fronts	5
3. Formulation of the Stability Problem and Main Theorem	7
4. A Well-Posedness Theorem for Boundary Value Problems of the Poisson	
Equation in a Dihedral Angle	10
4.1. Weighted norms	10
4.2. The well-posedness theorem	11
5. The Partial Hodograph Transformation	12
6. The Linearized Problem on the Background Shock Solution	16
6.1. The case that the incoming supersonic flow is perpendicular to the edge	18
6.2. The general case that the incoming supersonic flow may not be perpendicular	r
to the edge	21
7. The Iteration Scheme	24
8. The Two-Dimensional Case	28
Appendix A. Proof of Theorem 4.4	33

Date: May 18, 2017.

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification. 35B35, 35B20, 35B40, 35B65, 35R35, 35M12, 35M10, 35J66, 76L05, 76N10.

Key words and phrases. Stability, multidimensional, M-D, transonic shocks, steady, supersonic, wedge, nonlinear approach, iteration scheme, *a priori* estimates, boundary value problems, weighted norms, instability, asymptotic behavior.

A.1.	Function spaces and the equipped norms	33
A.2.	Sketch of the proof of Theorem 4.4	35
Refer	References	

1. INTRODUCTION

We are concerned with the stability of multidimensional (M-D) transonic shocks in steady supersonic flow past M-D wedges. In this paper, we focus on the fluid flow governed by the potential flow equation:

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\rho(|D\varphi|^2)D\varphi\right) = 0,\tag{1.1}$$

where $\varphi = \varphi(\mathbf{x})$ is the potential of the velocity field in $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, ρ is the density with

$$\rho(q^2) = \left(1 - \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}q^2\right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}}$$

from Bernoulli's law for polytropic gases of adiabatic exponent $\gamma > 1$ by scaling, and $D := (\partial_{x_1}, \dots, \partial_{x_n})$ is the gradient in **x**.

Then the potential flow equation (1.1) can be written as

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(D\varphi)\partial_{x_i x_j}\varphi = 0,$$

where

$$a_{ij}(D\varphi) = \begin{cases} c^2(|D\varphi|^2) - |\partial_{x_i}\varphi|^2, & i = j, \\ -\partial_{x_i}\varphi\partial_{x_j}\varphi, & i \neq j, \end{cases}$$

with $c(q^2) = \left(1 - \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}q^2\right)^{1/2}$ being the sonic speed. Denote $A(D\varphi) := \left[a_{ij}(D\varphi)\right]_{n \times n}$.

For an upstream supersonic flow past a straight wedge, a flat shock-front is formed in the flow (see Fig. 1.1). When the wedge angle is less than the critical angle, the shockfront may be attached to the wedge edge. There exist shock-fronts of two different types depending on the downstream flow behind them: Transonic (supersonic-subsonic) shockfronts and supersonic-supersonic shock-fronts. For a given two-dimensional (2-D) wedge which produces an attached shock-front, there are two admissible shock solutions that satisfy both the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions and the entropy condition. The weaker one may be a supersonic-supersonic shock-front or a transonic shock-front, while the stronger one is always a transonic shock-front (cf. [11, 19]). It is analogous for the M-D case (see §2). The non-uniqueness and related stability issues of such M-D steady shock waves have been longstanding open problems in mathematical fluid mechanics, which have attracted many mathematical scientists including Busemann [2], Meyer [32], Prandtl [34], Courant-Friedrichs [11], and von Neumann [38]; also see [1], [4]–[10], [12, 15, 18, 24, 36, 37, 41], and the references cited therein. In this paper, we are interested in the stability problem of the M-D transonic shock-fronts, behind which the flow is fully subsonic.

 $\mathbf{2}$



FIGURE 1.1. The shock-front in steady supersonic flow past an M-D wedge

For the 2-D case, local solutions involving a supersonic-supersonic shock around the curved wedge vertex were first constructed by Gu [18], Li [24], Schaeffer [36], and the references cited therein. Global potential solutions are constructed in [7, 8, 11, 40, 41] when the wedge has certain convexity, or the wedge is a small perturbation of the straightsided wedge with fast decay in the flow direction. In Chen-Zhang-Zhu [6], two-dimensional steady supersonic flows governed by the full Euler equations past Lipschitz wedges were systematically analyzed, and the existence and stability of supersonic Euler flows in BVwere established via a modified Glimm difference scheme (cf. [16]), when the total variation of the tangent angle function along the wedge boundary is suitably small. Furthermore, the L^1 -stability and uniqueness of entropy solutions in BV containing the strong supersonicsupersonic shock were established in Chen-Li [5]. The stability of transonic shocks under a perturbation of the upstream flow, or a perturbation of wedge boundary, has been studied in Chen-Fang [10] for the potential flow and in Fang [15] for the Euler flow with a uniform Bernoulli constant. In particular, the stability of transonic shocks in the steady Euler flows with a uniform Bernoulli constant was first established in the weighted Sobolev norms in Fang [15], while the downstream asymptotic decay rate of the shock speed at infinity for the weak transonic shock solution for the full Euler equations has been achieved in Chen-Chen-Feldman [4]. Also see Yin-Zhou [39] for the stability of strong transmic shock solutions.

For the M-D case, local solutions involving a supersonic-supersonic shock past a 3-D wing were first constructed by Chen [9]. One of our motivations in this paper is that the global stability issue for the M-D case is much more sensitive than that for the 2-D case, which requires more careful rigorous mathematical analysis. In this paper, we develop a nonlinear approach and employ it to establish the stability of weak shock solutions

containing a transonic shock-front with respect to the M-D perturbation of the wedge boundary in appropriate function spaces.

To achieve this, we first formulate the stability problem as a free boundary problem for nonlinear elliptic equations. Then we introduce the partial hodograph transformation to reduce the free boundary problem into a fixed boundary value problem near a background solution with fully nonlinear boundary conditions for second-order nonlinear elliptic equations in an unbounded domain. To solve this reduced problem, we linearize the nonlinear problem on the background shock solution and then, after solving this linearized elliptic problem, employ a nonlinear iteration scheme that is proved to be contractive. For this, the well-posedness theory for the corresponding linearized elliptic problem also plays an important role in this stability analysis of the transonic shocks.

The linearized problem here is a boundary value problem of elliptic equations in an unbounded domain of a dihedral angle. The singularities of the solution near the edge with the dihedral angle and the asymptotic behavior at infinity are two important aspects for such problems. As far as we have known, there have been plenty of literature for the elliptic problems in a domain with conical or/and edge singularities; see [3, 13, 14, 17], [20]-[23], [26]–[31], [33, 35], and the references cited therein. In this paper, the well-posedness of the linearized problem can be obtained by directly applying the results established by Maz'va, Plamenevskij, and others in [23], [26]–[31], and [35]. According to the theory, the linearized elliptic problem can be well-posed in weighted Sobolev spaces or weighted Hölder spaces, whose weights describe the singularity of the solution near the edge and the asymptotic behavior at infinity simultaneously. It is shown that the admissible weights are essentially associated with the eigenvalues of the deduced elliptic boundary value problem in an angular domain; see [23, 28, 31] for the rigorous definitions and related details. We calculate an example of the eigenvalues for oblique derivative boundary value problems of the Poisson equation in an angular domain in the appendix, which is used in this paper. It turns out that, for these problems, there are countable many eigenvalues and the admissible weights are separated into countable many intervals according to these eigenvalues. Then there arises an interesting and important difference between an M-D $(n \ge 3)$ dihedralangled wedge, whose edge is a straight line or a hyperplane, and a 2-D one whose edge shrinks to a point. Roughly speaking, only one interval of admissible weights was proved to be valid in [26, 35] for the M-D edge singularity of the domain for the linear theory, while there are countable many intervals of admissible weights that are valid for the 2-D corner singularity; cf. [21, 23, 28]. That is, there are much more admissible weights that are valid for the 2-D case than for the M-D case. It is this difference that will lead us to different stability consequences for the M-D case from the 2-D case: The M-D stability result is established in this paper only for the weak transonic shocks, while the 2-D stability results can be established for both the weak and strong ones.

For our stability problem, the distribution of eigenvalues for the linearized problem is closely related to the angle between the velocity vector behind the shock-front and the outer normal of the shock polar in the (u, v)-plane, whose tangent value, according to the shock polar, is positive for weak transonic shocks, while negative for strong ones; see §6 and §8. This fact will result in different stability consequences for weak transonic shocks and strong ones for the M-D case. In fact, the only valid admissible interval of weights for the weak transonic shocks satisfies the property that the solution is physically reasonable, that is, the velocity should be bounded; while the weights for the strong transonic shocks fail to satisfy this property. Therefore, for the M-D transonic shocks, the stability of weak ones can be established in this paper, while the stability of the strong ones cannot be established via this analysis regime; see §6 for more details. However, for the 2-D transonic shocks, since there are countable many valid admissible intervals of weights, we can choose one of them, accordingly for weak and strong ones, such that the solution is physically reasonable; see §8 for more details.

Therefore, it is also interesting to question whether the stability of the strong transonic shocks for the M-D case is still valid. For the stability of strong transonic shocks, the nature of the boundary condition is significantly different from the weak transonic shock case. Such a difference may affect the regularity of solutions, as well as the asymptotic behavior, in general. It requires further understanding of some special features of the problem along the wedge edge to ensure that there exists a smooth solution. A different approach may be required to handle this case, which is currently under investigation. In this regard, we notice that an instability result has been observed recently in Li-Xu-Yin [25].

The organization of this paper is as follows. In §2, we establish the shock polar for the M-D shock-fronts for the potential flow equation (1.1). In §3, we formulate the stability problem as a free boundary problem and describe our main theorem. In §4, we introduce the weighted norms applied in this paper measuring the perturbations and provide the well-established theory for boundary value problems of the Poisson equation in a dihedral angle. In §5, we introduce the partial hodograph transformation to reduce the free boundary problem into a fixed boundary value problem and describe the theorem which will be proved in §6–7. In §6, we analyze the regularity of solutions near the wedge edge by linearizing the nonlinear stability problem. In §7, we develop an iteration scheme and establish its convergence, which completes the proof of our main theorem. In §8, different from the M-D case, we show that all the weak and strong transonic shock solutions are conditionally stable in the 2-D case, for which the strong one has even better regularity near the wedge vertex. For self-containedness, in the appendix, we give a sketch of the proof of Theorem 4.4.

2. The Shock Polar for Multidimensional Shock-Fronts

Assume that the velocity of the uniform supersonic flow ahead of a shock-front S is $\mathbf{v}^- = (q_0, 0, 0, \dots, 0)^\top$, and the velocity of the uniform flow behind S is $\mathbf{v} = (v_1, v_2, \mathbf{v}')^\top$ with $\mathbf{v}' = (v_3, \dots, v_n)$. Then the corresponding potential functions are

$$\varphi^{-}(\mathbf{x}) = q_0 x_1, \qquad \varphi^{+}(\mathbf{x}) = v_1 x_1 + v_2 x_2 + \mathbf{v}' \cdot \mathbf{x}',$$

respectively, where $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n)^{\top} = (x_1, x_2, \mathbf{x}')^{\top}$ with $\mathbf{x}' = (x_3, \cdots, x_n)^{\top}$. Let
 $\varphi(\mathbf{x}) = \varphi^{-}(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi^{+}(\mathbf{x}) = (q_0 - v_1) x_1 - v_2 x_2 - \mathbf{v}' \cdot \mathbf{x}'.$

Then the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions on $\mathcal S$ can be written as

$$D\varphi \cdot \left(\rho(\left|D\varphi^{+}\right|^{2})D\varphi^{+} - \rho(\left|D\varphi^{-}\right|^{2})D\varphi^{-}\right) = 0, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x}) = 0. \tag{2.2}$$

Condition (2.1) indicates the conservation of mass across the shock-front, and condition (2.2) implies that the tangential components of the velocity are continuous across the shock-front.

Now we determine the position of the shock-front and velocity \mathbf{v} behind it, for the given wedge and the uniform incoming supersonic flow \mathbf{v}^- . To this end, the rigidity assumption is imposed on the flow along the wedge surface:

$$\mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nu} = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\nu}$ is the unit normal of the wedge.

Condition (2.1) can be rewritten as

$$\left(\rho + \rho^{-}\right)q_{0}v_{1} - \rho q^{2} - \rho^{-}q_{0}^{2} = 0, \qquad (2.4)$$

where $\rho^- = \rho(q_0^2)$, $q = |\mathbf{v}|$, and $\rho = \rho(q^2)$. Then the admissible solution \mathbf{v} to equation (2.4) can be described by a shock balloon rotating the 2-D shock polar around the v_1 -axis; see Fig. 2.1(a).

Since the shock-front is attached to the wedge edge, which is assumed to be the hyperplane spanned by the unit vectors $\boldsymbol{\tau}_j = (\tau_1, 0, \dots, \tau_j, \dots, 0)^{\top}$, $j = 3, \dots, n$, with τ_j the j-th component, we can differentiate condition (2.2) along the edge to obtain

$$q_0\tau_1 = v_1\tau_1 + v_j\tau_j, \qquad j = 3, \cdots, n,$$
 (2.5)

which implies that $\mathbf{v}^- - \mathbf{v}$ is orthogonal to $\boldsymbol{\tau}_j$. Thus, the M-D shock polar determined by the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions (2.1)–(2.2) is the intersection curve of the shock balloon determined by (2.4) and the hyperplanes in (2.5), which is similar to the 2-D shock polar, when such an intersection curve exists; see loop QS_*N in Fig. 2.1(b).

Finally, for a given wedge, the rigidity assumption (2.3) yields that \mathbf{v} should also be tangential to the wedge plane, plane O_1O_2W , which intersects with the shock balloon at loop P_1P_2 when the dihedral wedge angle is less than the critical value; see Fig. 2.1(c). Therefore, the velocity behind the shock-front must be determined by the intersection points A and B of loop P_1P_2 and the shock polar QS_*N ; see Fig. 2.1(d). Each intersection point represents a shock solution, which is called the background solution, to our problem for supersonic potential flow past a straight M-D wedge. Notice that, as the wedge angle increases to the critical value, the intersection points A and B coincide with S_* ; and when it is larger than the critical value, there is no intersection point, which implies that the shock-front cannot attach the wedge edge.

Both shock solutions determined by A and B satisfy the entropy condition, and the shock strength of the solution represented by A is stronger than B. In addition, A must correspond to a transonic shock solution, while B may correspond to a transonic or supersonic shock solution. The critical shock solution S_* must be transonic. We are interested



FIGURE 2.1. The shock polar and shock solutions for a given M-D wedge

in the stability of transonic shocks, including the weak and strong transonic shocks on the shock polar.

3. Formulation of the Stability Problem and Main Theorem

In this section, we formulate the stability problem as a free boundary problem for nonlinear elliptic equations and describe our main theorem for the stability results.

We first reformulate the coordinate system, for simplicity of presentation of the computation. Fix the x_1 -axis to be in the surface of the straight wedge and perpendicular to the wedge edge, the x_2 -axis to be perpendicular to the wedge surface, and the x_3 -axis to be parallel with the component of the velocity vector behind the shock-front on the (n-2)-D hyperplane { $x_1 = 0, x_2 = 0$ }; see Fig. 3.1.

Assume that the wedge angle is α_w . Then, for the background shock solution, the velocity of the incoming flow ahead of the shock-front is

$$U_0^- = (q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w}, -q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}, U_{03}^-, 0, \cdots, 0)^+$$



FIGURE 3.1. The flow field under the reformulated coordinate system

with $|U_0^-| = \sqrt{(q_0^-)^2 + (U_{03}^-)^2}$, and the velocity behind the shock-front is $U_0^+ = q_0^+ (\cos \omega_1, 0, \cos \omega_3, 0, \cdots, 0)^\top$,

where ω_j is the angle between U_0^+ and the x_j -axis for j = 1, 3; see Fig. 3.1.

By the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions, we have

$$U_{03}^- = q_0^+ \cos \omega_3,$$
$$\cos^2 \omega_1 + \cos^2 \omega_3 = 1$$

Thus, the corresponding potential functions are

$$\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - x_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} + x_3 U_{03}^-, \qquad (3.1)$$

$$\varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 q_0^+ \cos \omega_1 + x_3 q_0^+ \cos \omega_3, \qquad (3.2)$$

and the location of the shock-front \mathcal{S}_0 is determined by

$$\varphi_0(\mathbf{x}) := \varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}) = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

that is,

$$x_1 \left(q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1 \right) - x_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} = 0.$$

Now assume that the wedge surface is perturbed by the perturbed surface:

$$\Gamma_{\mathbf{w}} := \left\{ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n : x_2 = \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1, \mathbf{x}'), x_1 > \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{x}'), \mathbf{x}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \right\};$$

see Fig. 3.2. We investigate whether the background transonic shock solution (3.1)–(3.2) with the position of shock-front determined by (3.3) is stable.

If the shock solution is stable, then Γ_s is denoted as the shock-front, \mathscr{D}^- as the supersonic flow field ahead Γ_s , and \mathscr{D}^+ the subsonic flow field between Γ_s and Γ_w ; see Fig. 3.2. Let $\varphi^{\pm}(\mathbf{x})$ be the potential functions of the perturbed steady flow in \mathscr{D}^{\pm} , respectively. Then we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} (D\varphi^{\pm}) \partial_{x_i x_j} \varphi^{\pm} = 0 \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}^{\pm}.$$
(3.4)



FIGURE 3.2. The perturbed wedge and resulting perturbed shock-front

Let

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x}) := \varphi^{-}(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi^{+}(\mathbf{x}). \tag{3.5}$$

Then $\varphi(\mathbf{x})$ in \mathscr{D}^+ is governed by

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} (D\varphi - D\varphi^{-}) \partial_{x_i x_j} \varphi = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} (D\varphi - D\varphi^{-}) \partial_{x_i x_j} \varphi^{-} \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}^+.$$
(3.6)

We assume that the fluid satisfies the rigidity condition on the wedge boundary Γ_w :

$$H_{\rm w}(D\varphi; D\varphi_{\rm w}) = 0 \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\rm w}, \tag{3.7}$$

where, with $(D_{\mathbf{x}'}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})^{\top} = (\partial_{x_3}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}, \cdots, \partial_{x_n}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}),$

$$H_{\mathbf{w}}(D\varphi; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) := (-\partial_{x_1}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}, 1, -(D_{\mathbf{x}'}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})^{\top})^{\top} \cdot (D\varphi - D\varphi^{-})$$

On the shock front Γ_s , the Rankine-Hugoniot conditions hold:

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x}) = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\mathbf{s}}, \tag{3.8}$$

$$H_{\rm s}(D\varphi; D\varphi^{-}) = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_{\rm s}, \tag{3.9}$$

where

$$H_{\rm s}(D\varphi;D\varphi^{-}) := D\varphi \cdot \left(\rho(\left|D\varphi^{-} - D\varphi\right|^{2})(D\varphi^{-} - D\varphi) - \rho(\left|D\varphi^{-}\right|^{2})D\varphi^{-}\right).$$

Then the stability problem can be formulated as

Problem 3.1 (Free boundary problem): For the given perturbation of the wedge surface $\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1, \mathbf{x}')$ and the given incoming supersonic flow $\varphi^-(\mathbf{x}) := \varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x})$, determine $\varphi(\mathbf{x})$ and the free boundary Γ_s of domain \mathscr{D}^+ such that (3.6)–(3.9) hold. Moreover, $\varphi^-(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi(\mathbf{x})$ describes a subsonic flow behind the shock-front.

The main purpose of this paper is to establish the following stability theorem for the weak transonic shock solutions:

Theorem 3.1. Let $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}))$ be the weak transonic shock solution that is represented by B on the shock polar; see Fig. 2.1. If the wedge edge is not perturbed, that is,

$$\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{x}') \equiv 0, \quad \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(0, \mathbf{x}') \equiv 0 \quad \text{for all } \mathbf{x}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2},$$

$$(3.10)$$

and the perturbation $\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1, \mathbf{x}')$ of the wedge surface is sufficiently small, then there exists a unique $\varphi^+(\mathbf{x})$, which is also a small perturbation of $\varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x})$, such that $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi^+(\mathbf{x}))$ solves Problem 3.1, i.e., the free boundary problem (3.6)–(3.9), with the perturbed shock-front Γ_s determined by

$$\varphi(\mathbf{x}) := \varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi^+(\mathbf{x}) = 0.$$

This indicates that the weak transonic shock solution is conditionally stable.

We remark that the same results hold if $\varphi^{-}(\mathbf{x})$ is replaced by any smooth incoming supersonic flow near the background potential function $\varphi_{0}^{-}(\mathbf{x})$. This can be achieved by the same arguments below without difficulties. For simplicity of presentation, we focus our proof on Problem 3.1.

4. A Well-Posedness Theorem for Boundary Value Problems of the Poisson Equation in a Dihedral Angle

We now present here a well-established theory on boundary value problems of the Poisson equation in a dihedral angle established by Maz'ya, Plamenevskij, Reisman, and others in [23], [26]–[31], [35], and the references therein, which will be employed for solving the free boundary problem, Problem 3.1.

4.1. Weighted norms. As before, denote $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \mathbf{x}') \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $\mathbf{x}' = (x_3, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$. Let (r, ω) be the polar coordinates for $(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\omega_* \in (0, 2\pi)$. Define an angular domain K in \mathbb{R}^2 with its boundaries γ^{\pm} as in Fig. 4.1:

$$K = \left\{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |\omega| < \frac{\omega_*}{2} \right\},\$$

$$\gamma^{\pm} = \left\{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : |\omega| = \omega^{\pm} := \pm \frac{\omega_*}{2} \right\}.$$

Then $\mathscr{D} = K \times \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$ is a domain of dihedral angles in \mathbb{R}^n , and $\Gamma^{\pm} = \gamma^{\pm} \times \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$ are its two faces intersecting at edge $\mathscr{E} = \{ \mathbf{x} : x_1 = x_2 = 0, \mathbf{x}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \}.$

Definition 4.1. Define the following *weighted Hölder norms*:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})} &:= \sup_{\mathbf{x}\in\mathscr{D}} \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=0}^{\ell} r_{\mathbf{x}}^{\beta-\ell-\alpha+|\mathbf{k}|} \left| D^{\mathbf{k}}u(\mathbf{x}) \right| \\ &+ \sup_{\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}\in\mathscr{D}} |\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|^{-\alpha} \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=0}^{\ell} \left| r_{\mathbf{x}}^{\beta-\ell+|\mathbf{k}|} D^{\mathbf{k}}u(\mathbf{x}) - r_{\mathbf{y}}^{\beta-\ell+|\mathbf{k}|} D^{\mathbf{k}}u(\mathbf{y}) \right|, \end{aligned}$$
(4.1)

where $0 < \alpha < 1$, $\ell = 0, 1, \dots, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, $r_{\mathbf{x}} = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2}$, $r_{\mathbf{y}} = \sqrt{y_1^2 + y_2^2}$, and $D^{\mathbf{k}} = \partial_{x_1}^{k_1} \cdots \partial_{x_n}^{k_n}$ for multi-index $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_+^n$. Denote by $\mathcal{C}_{\beta}^{\ell, \alpha}(\mathscr{D})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus \mathscr{E})$ under norm (4.1).

Remark. The weight β in (4.1) has simultaneous control for both the regularity of u near edge \mathscr{E} and the asymptotic behavior as $r_{\mathbf{x}} \to \infty$. For our later use of the weighted Hölder norms, we will employ double weights for different control for the regularity of u near edge \mathscr{E} and the asymptotic behavior. Let $\beta_0, \beta_\infty \in \mathbb{R}$. Set

$$\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D}) := \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_0}(\mathscr{D}) \cap \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D})$$

with the weighted norm as

$$\|u\|_{(\ell,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} := \|u\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_0}(\mathscr{D})} + \|u\|_{\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D})}.$$

Definition 4.2. A multiplier in $\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})$ is a function φ such that

$$\varphi u \in \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D}) \qquad \text{for any } u \in \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D}).$$

We denote the set of all the multipliers in $\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})$ by $\mathscr{M}\mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})$.

In fact, the multiplier space is independent of the weight power β as shown in Maz'ya– Plamenevskij [30]:

Proposition 4.3.
$$\mathscr{MC}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D}) = \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\ell+\alpha}(\mathscr{D})$$

4.2. The well-posedness theorem. Consider the elliptic boundary value problem in the dihedral angle \mathscr{D} :

$$\Delta_{\mathbf{x}} u = f \qquad \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}, \tag{4.2}$$

$$\partial \mathscr{P}^{\pm} u = g^{\pm} \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma^{\pm}, \tag{4.3}$$

where $\Delta_{\mathbf{x}} := \partial_{x_1x_1} + \partial_{x_2x_2} + \Delta_{\mathbf{x}'}$ with $\Delta_{\mathbf{x}'} := \sum_{j=3}^n \partial_{x_jx_j}$, and $\partial \mathscr{P}^{\pm} := \partial_{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}} + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}} + \mathbf{c}^{\pm} \cdot D_{\mathbf{x}'}$ with $\alpha^{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}$, $\mathbf{c}^{\pm} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$, $\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}$ the inward normal of Γ^{\pm} , and $\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}$ tangent vector to Γ^{\pm} , perpendicular to \mathscr{E} and directed from \mathscr{E} into \mathscr{D} ; see Fig. 4.1.

Directly applying the results in [27, 29, 30, 35], we obtain the following theorem for the boundary value problem (4.2)–(4.3). For completeness, we will describe the main steps of the proof in the appendix.

Theorem 4.4. Let $\Phi = \arctan \alpha^{-} + \arctan \alpha^{+}$. Suppose that

$$-\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*} < \sigma < 0 \qquad or \qquad 0 < \sigma < -\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*},\tag{4.4}$$

and $\beta = 2 + \alpha - \sigma$. Then the operator of problem (4.2)-(4.3) induces the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D}) \approx \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D}) \times \prod_{\pm} \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta}(\Gamma^{\pm}).$$

Moreover, suppose that both σ_1 and σ_2 satisfy (4.4), and $\beta_j = 2 + \alpha - \sigma_j$. Assume that

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad g^{\pm} \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(\Gamma^{\pm}).$$



FIGURE 4.1. The angular domain K

Then solution $u \in \mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_1}(\mathscr{D})$ of problem (4.2)–(4.3) is also in $\mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_2}(\mathscr{D})$, that is, $u \in \mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(\mathscr{D})$ with the estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})} \leq C\Big(\|f\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})} + \sum_{\pm} \|g^{\pm}\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})}\Big).$$
(4.5)

5. The Partial Hodograph Transformation

To solve Problem 3.1, the free boundary problem (3.6)–(3.9), our strategy is to fix first the free boundary Γ_s . To achieve this, we introduce the following partial hodograph transformation:

$$\mathscr{P}\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \mathbf{y}')^\top := (\varphi(\mathbf{x}), \ x_2 - \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1, \mathbf{x}'), \ \mathbf{x}')^\top,$$

which is invertible as $\partial_{x_1} \varphi \neq 0$, and we denote its inverse by

$$\mathscr{P}^{-1}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{x} = (x_{1,}x_{2},\mathbf{x}')^{\top} := (u(\mathbf{y}), \ y_{2} + \varphi_{w}(u(\mathbf{y}),\mathbf{y}'), \ \mathbf{y}')^{\top}.$$

Taking the partial derivatives to the equation:

$$y_1 = \varphi \circ \mathscr{P}^{-1}(\mathbf{y})$$

with respect to $y_j, j = 1, \cdots, n$, we have

$$\partial_{x_1}\varphi = \frac{1}{\partial_{y_1}u} \left(1 + \partial_{x_1}\varphi_{w}(u, \mathbf{y}') \partial_{y_2}u \right), \qquad \partial_{x_2}\varphi = -\frac{\partial_{y_2}u}{\partial_{y_1}u},$$
$$\partial_{x_j}\varphi = -\frac{1}{\partial_{y_1}u} \left(\partial_{y_j}u - \partial_{x_j}\varphi_{w}(u, \mathbf{y}') \partial_{y_2}u \right), \qquad j = 3, \cdots, n$$

that is,

$$D\varphi = \frac{1}{\partial_{y_1}u} \left(1 + \partial_{x_1}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}\partial_{y_2}u, -\partial_{y_2}u, -\partial_{y_3}u + \partial_{x_3}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}\partial_{y_2}u, \cdots, -\partial_{y_n}u + \partial_{x_n}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}\partial_{y_2}u \right)^\top.$$

Thus, the Jacobi matrix of transformation ${\mathscr P}$ is

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{y}}{\partial \mathbf{x}} = \begin{bmatrix} \partial_{x_1} \varphi & \partial_{x_2} \varphi & \partial_{x_3} \varphi & \cdots & \partial_{x_n} \varphi \\ -\partial_{x_1} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} & 1 & -\partial_{x_3} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} & \cdots & -\partial_{x_n} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix} := \frac{1}{\partial_{y_1} u} J^\top,$$

where

$$J := \begin{bmatrix} 1 + \partial_{x_1} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_2} u & -\partial_{x_1} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_1} u & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ -\partial_{y_2} u & \partial_{y_1} u & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ -\partial_{y_3} u + \partial_{x_3} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_2} u & -\partial_{x_3} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_1} u & \partial_{y_1} u & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -\partial_{y_n} u + \partial_{x_n} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_2} u & -\partial_{x_n} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_1} u & 0 & \cdots & \partial_{y_1} u \end{bmatrix}.$$

After a direct computation, we also obtain

$$\frac{\partial \left(D_{\mathbf{x}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(D_{\mathbf{y}}u, \ u, \ \mathbf{y}'\right)} := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{1}}u\right)} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{n}}u\right)} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi\right)}{\partial u} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{3}} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{n}} \\ \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{1}}u\right)} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{n}}u\right)} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial u} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{3}} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{2}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{n}} \\ \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{n}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{1}}u\right)} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{n}}\varphi\right)}{\partial \left(\partial_{y_{n}}u\right)} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{n}}\varphi\right)}{\partial u} & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{n}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{3}} & \cdots & \frac{\partial \left(\partial_{x_{n}}\varphi\right)}{\partial y_{n}} \end{bmatrix}_{n \times (2n-1)} \\ = \left[-\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_{1}}u\right)^{2}}J & \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{\partial_{y_{1}}u}W_{1} & \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{\partial_{y_{1}}u}W_{3} & \cdots & \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{\partial_{y_{1}}u}W_{n}\right]_{n \times (2n-1)},$$

where $W_j := (\partial_{x_j x_1} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}'), 0, \partial_{x_j x_3} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}'), \cdots, \partial_{x_j x_n} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}'))^{\top}$, with $j = 1, 3, \cdots, n$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} D_{\mathbf{x}}^{2}\varphi &= \frac{\partial(D_{\mathbf{x}}\varphi)}{\partial(D_{\mathbf{y}}u, \ u, \ \mathbf{y}')} \begin{bmatrix} D_{\mathbf{y}}^{2}u \\ (D_{\mathbf{y}}u)^{\top} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{y}'}{\partial \mathbf{y}} \end{bmatrix}_{(2n-1)\times n} \\ &= -\frac{1}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{3}} J D_{\mathbf{y}}^{2} u J^{\top} + \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{2}} W_{1}(D_{\mathbf{y}}u)^{\top} J^{\top} + \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{2}} W' \frac{\partial \mathbf{y}'}{\partial \mathbf{y}} J^{\top} \\ &:= -\frac{1}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{3}} J D_{\mathbf{y}}^{2} u J^{\top} + J_{\mathbf{w}}, \end{split}$$

where $\frac{\partial \mathbf{y}'}{\partial \mathbf{y}} = \left[\frac{\partial y_i}{\partial y_j}\right]_{(n-2)\times n}$ $(i = 3, \cdots, n \text{ and } j = 1, \cdots, n), W' := [W_3, \cdots, W_n]$ and

$$J_{\mathbf{w}} = J_{\mathbf{w}}(D^{2}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}; Du, \ D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}')) := \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{2}}W_{1}(D_{\mathbf{y}}u)^{\top}J^{\top} + \frac{\partial_{y_{2}}u}{(\partial_{y_{1}}u)^{2}}W'\frac{\partial\mathbf{y}'}{\partial\mathbf{y}}J^{\top}.$$

Then we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} a_{ij} \partial_{x_i x_j} \varphi = \operatorname{Tr}(A^{\top} D_{\mathbf{x}}^2 \varphi)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{(\partial_{y_1} u)^3} \operatorname{Tr}(AJ D_{\mathbf{y}}^2 u J^{\top}) + \operatorname{Tr}(AJ_{\mathbf{w}})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1} u\right)^3} \operatorname{Tr}(J^{\top} A J D_{\mathbf{y}}^2 u) + \operatorname{Tr}(A J_{\mathbf{w}})$$
$$= -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1} u\right)^3} \sum_{i,j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij} \partial_{y_i y_j} u + \Phi_{\mathbf{w}},$$

where $\tilde{A} = \tilde{A}^{\top} = J^{\top} A J := \left[\tilde{a}_{ij} \right]_{n \times n}$ with $\tilde{a}_{ij} = \tilde{a}_{ij} (Du; D\varphi^{-}(u, y_2, \mathbf{y}'); D\varphi_{w}(u, \mathbf{y}'))$, and $\Phi_{w} = \Phi_{w} (D^2 \varphi_{w}; Du; D\varphi_{w}(u, \mathbf{y}')) := \operatorname{Tr}(A J_{w}).$

Thus, under the partial hodograph transformation, the potential flow equation (3.6) becomes

$$-\frac{1}{(\partial_{y_1}u)^3}\sum_{i,j=1}^n \tilde{a}_{ij}\partial_{y_iy_j}u + \Phi_{w} = \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij}\partial_{x_ix_j}\varphi_0^- = 0.$$
(5.1)

Under the partial hodograph transformation, Γ_w becomes

 $\Gamma_1 = \left\{ y_2 = 0, \ y_1 > 0, \ \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \right\},\$

as shown in Fig. 5.1, and the boundary condition (3.7) on the wedge becomes

$$G_1(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}')) = 0, \qquad (5.2)$$

where

$$G_{1}(Du; D\varphi_{w}) := \left(\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{w}\partial_{x_{1}}\varphi^{-} - \partial_{x_{2}}\varphi^{-} + \sum_{j=3}^{n}\partial_{x_{j}}\varphi_{w}\partial_{x_{j}}\varphi^{-}\right)\partial_{y_{1}}u$$
$$-(1 + |D\varphi_{w}|^{2})\partial_{y_{2}}u + \sum_{j=3}^{n}\partial_{x_{j}}\varphi_{w}\partial_{y_{j}}u - \partial_{x_{1}}\varphi_{w}.$$

The shock front Γ_s becomes a fixed boundary $\Gamma_2 = \{y_1 = 0, y_2 > 0\}$, and the boundary condition (3.8) becomes

$$G_2(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = 0, \tag{5.3}$$

where

$$G_2(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) := H_{\mathbf{s}}(D\varphi(Du, D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}); D\varphi_0^-).$$

Finally, since the wedge edge:

$$\left\{\mathbf{x}\in\mathbb{R}^n:\ x_1=\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{x}'),\ x_2=\varphi(x_1,\mathbf{x}'),\ \mathbf{x}'\in\mathbb{R}^{n-2}\right\}$$

is the intersection of the wedge surface and the shock-front, which yields that $\varphi \equiv 0$ on the edge, by condition (3.8). Thus, the tangential derivatives of φ on the edge should be 0. Then, under the partial hodograph transformation,

$$\partial_{y_j} u = \partial_{x_j} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{y}') \tag{5.4}$$

on edge $\{\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^n : y_1 = y_2 = 0, \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}\}$. Therefore, on the edge, $u(0, 0, \mathbf{y}') = \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}^{\mathbf{e}}(\mathbf{y}')$.

Remark 5.1. For the background transmic shock solution $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}))$, we have

$$\varphi_0(\mathbf{x}) = \varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 \left(q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1 \right) - x_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w},$$

14



FIGURE 5.1. The domain after the partial hodograph transformation

and the corresponding partial hodograph transformation is

$$\mathscr{P}_0 \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \mathbf{y}')^\top := (\varphi_0(\mathbf{x}), x_2, \mathbf{x}')^\top$$

It is invertible since $\partial_{x_1}\varphi_0 = q_0^- \cos \alpha_w - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1 > 0$, and its inverse is

$$\mathscr{P}_0^{-1}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \mathbf{x}')^\top := (u_0(\mathbf{y}), \ y_2, \ \mathbf{y}')^\top,$$

where

$$u_0(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{y_1 + y_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1}$$

Then we have

$$\partial_{y_1} u_0 = \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1} > 0.$$

Therefore, the partial hodograph transformation is still invertible in the case that u(y) is a small perturbation of $u_0(y)$ such that $|\partial_{y_1}u - \partial_{y_1}u_0|$ is small enough.

We now solve the deduced fixed boundary value problem (5.1)–(5.4) near $u_0(\mathbf{y})$ and prove the following theorem which implies our main theorem, Theorem 3.1.

Theorem 5.2. Let $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}))$ be the weak transonic shock solution that is represented by B on the shock polar in Fig. 2.1. Then there exist constants $\delta_0 > 0$ and $\sigma_s > 0$ depending on the background solution such that, for any $-1 < \sigma_\infty \leq 0 < \sigma_0 < \sigma_s$, if the wedge edge is not perturbed, that is, (3.10) holds, and the perturbation of the wedge surface Γ_w satisfies

$$\|\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathbb{R}_{+}\times\mathbb{R}^{n-2})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} \leq \delta \leq \delta_{0}$$

$$(5.5)$$

for $\beta_0 = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0$ and $\beta_{\infty} = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_{\infty}$, then there exists a unique solution $u(\mathbf{y})$ to the boundary value problem (5.1)–(5.4) satisfying

$$\|u - u_0\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le K\delta,\tag{5.6}$$

where K > 0 depends on the background solution, but is independent of $\delta_0 > 0$.

Remark 5.3. Theorem 5.2 will be proved via a nonlinear iteration scheme, in which the linearized problem plays an important role. The linearized problem can be reformulated as an oblique derivative boundary value problem of the Poisson equation, which can be solved without conditions (5.4) on the edge, according to Theorem 4.4. Thus, it looks like that problem (5.1)-(5.4) is over-determined, which is exactly the instability mechanism for strong transonic solutions shown in [25]. In Theorem 5.2, since $\sigma_0 > 0$, estimate (5.6) yields that $Du - Du_0 \equiv 0$ on edge $\{y_1 = 0, y_2 = 0, \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}\}$, which indicates that, as the wedge edge is not perturbed such that (3.10) holds, conditions (5.4) hold automatically, and solution u(y) to problem (5.1)–(5.3) is indeed a solution to problem (5.1)–(5.4). Thus, the instability mechanism for strong transonic shocks shown in [25] may not happen for weak transonic shocks.

6. The Linearized Problem on the Background Shock Solution

To prove Theorem 5.2, we first linearize the nonlinear problem (5.1)–(5.3) on the background shock solution, then solve this corresponding linearized elliptic problem, and finally develop a nonlinear iteration scheme that is proved to be contractive. Therefore, the wellposedness theory for the linearized problem also plays an important role in our approach for the stability analysis of the transonic shocks.

Let

$$u(\mathbf{y}) = u_0(\mathbf{y}) + \dot{u}(\mathbf{y}).$$

Then the linearized problem for the nonlinear problem (5.1)-(5.3) on the background solution $u_0(\mathbf{y})$ reads

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} \dot{u} = -(\partial_{y_1} u_0)^3 f(\dot{u}; \varphi_w) \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D},$$
$$\nabla_{Du} G_j(Du_0; 0) \cdot D\dot{u} = g_j(\dot{u}; \varphi_w) \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_j, j = 1, 2,$$

where

$$\tilde{a}_{ij}^0 = \tilde{a}_{ij}(Du_0; D\varphi_0^-; 0),$$

and the iteration terms $f(\dot{u}; \varphi_w)$ and $g_j(\dot{u}; \varphi_w), j = 1, 2$, will be specified later in §7. Note that

$$\nabla_{Du}G_1(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = \left(\frac{\partial(D\varphi)}{\partial(Du)}\right)^\top \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{w}}(D\varphi; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1}u\right)^2}J^\top \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{w}},$$
$$\nabla_{Du}G_2(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = \left(\frac{\partial(D\varphi)}{\partial(Du)}\right)^\top \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{s}}(D\varphi; D\varphi_0^-) = -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1}u\right)^2}J^\top \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{s}}.$$

We have

$$\nabla_{Du}G_1(Du_0;0) = -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1}u_0\right)^2}J_0^\top \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{w}}(D\varphi_0;0).$$

$$\nabla_{Du}G_2(Du_0;0) = -\frac{1}{\left(\partial_{y_1}u_0\right)^2}J_0^{\top}\nabla_{D\varphi}H_s(D\varphi_0;D\varphi_0^-)$$

where $\nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{w}}(D\varphi_0; 0) = (0, 1, 0, \cdots, 0)^{\top}, \ \nabla_{D\varphi}H_{\mathbf{s}}(D\varphi_0; D\varphi_0^-) := \boldsymbol{\nu} = (\nu_1, \cdots, \nu_n)^{\top}$ which is exactly the outer unit normal of the shock balloon, and

$$J_0 := J(Du_0; 0) = \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1} \begin{bmatrix} q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ -q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Therefore, in this section, we deal with the linear boundary value problem of elliptic type (u is still denoted as the unknown function):

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} u = \hat{f} \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}, \qquad (6.1)$$

$$-q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} \partial_{y_1} u + \partial_{y_2} u = \hat{g}_1 \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_1, \qquad (6.2)$$

$$(Du)^{\top} \cdot J_0^{\top} \boldsymbol{\nu} = \hat{g}_2 \qquad \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_2. \tag{6.3}$$

Then Theorem 4.4 can be employed to establish the following well-posedness theorem for problem (6.1)-(6.3).

Theorem 6.1. Assume that

$$\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} > 0.$$
 (6.4)

Then there exists a constant $\sigma_s > 0$ depending only on the parameters of the unperturbed background transonic shock solution such that, for any

$$-1 < \sigma_{\infty} \le 0 < \sigma_0 < \sigma_s, \tag{6.5}$$

if

$$\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad \hat{g}_j \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\Gamma_j), \ j=1,2,$$

with $\beta_0 = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0$ and $\beta_{\infty} = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_{\infty}$, there exists a unique solution $u \in \mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_{\infty}}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (6.1)–(6.3) satisfying the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} \le C\Big(\|\hat{f}\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \|\hat{g}_{j}\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})}\Big).$$
(6.6)

Remark 6.2. For the weak transonic shock solution represented by point B on the shock polar, condition (6.4) holds. However, $\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} < 0$ for the strong transonic shock solution represented by point A, and $\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} = 0$ when point A coincides with point B. That is, condition (6.4) does not hold for these two cases. See Figures 6.2–6.3.

We remark that, for the M-D case, if the incoming supersonic flow is perpendicular to the edge, the background shock solution is the same as the shock solution for the 2-D flow. However, there are differences between the M-D flow and 2-D flow, so that it is worth of



FIGURE 6.1. The uniform incoming flow is perpendicular to the edge

dealing with the perpendicular case independently, for later comparison between these two cases.

6.1. The case that the incoming supersonic flow is perpendicular to the edge. In this case, $\omega_1 = 0$ (see Fig. 6.1), and the corresponding potential functions are

$$\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - x_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w},$$

$$\varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 q_0^+.$$

Then we have

$$\varphi_0(\mathbf{x}) = \varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}) - \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}) = x_1 \left(q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\mathbf{w}} - q_0^+ \right) - x_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\mathbf{w}},$$

and the corresponding partial hodograph transformation becomes

$$\mathscr{P}_0 \mathbf{x} = \mathbf{y} = (y_{1,y_2}, \mathbf{y}')^\top := (\varphi_0(\mathbf{x}), x_2, \mathbf{x}')^\top,$$

with its inverse

$$\mathscr{P}_0^{-1}\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{x} = (x_1, x_2, \mathbf{x}')^\top := (u_0(\mathbf{y}), \ y_2, \ \mathbf{y}')^\top,$$

where

$$u_0(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} \left(y_1 + y_2 q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} \right).$$

Let

$$A_0 = A(D\varphi_0^+) = [a_{ij}^0]_{n \times n} = (c_0^+)^2 \begin{bmatrix} 1 - (M_0^+)^2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$J_0 = J(Du_0; 0) = \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} \begin{bmatrix} q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ -q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} & 1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots\\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, in equation (6.1),

$$\tilde{A}_0 := \left[\tilde{a}_{ij}^0\right]_{n \times n} = J_0^\top A_0 J_0$$

Moreover, in the boundary condition (6.3), the unit normal $\boldsymbol{\nu} = (\nu_1, \nu_2, 0, \cdots, 0)^\top$. Let

$$Y = P\mathbf{y},$$

where $P = A_0^{-\frac{1}{2}} (J_0^{-1})^{\top}$ is a nonsingular matrix, with

$$A_0^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{1}{c_0^+} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-(M_0^+)^2}} & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix},$$

$$J_0^{-1} = (q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then

$$\frac{\partial Y}{\partial \mathbf{y}} = \left[\partial_{y_j} Y_i\right]_{n \times n} = P.$$

For $u(\mathbf{y}) = u(Y(\mathbf{y})),$

$$D_{\mathbf{y}}u = \left[\partial_{y_i}u\right]_{n \times 1} = P^\top \left[\partial_{Y_i}u\right]_{n \times 1} = P^\top D_Y u_{\mathbf{y}}$$

and

$$D_{\mathbf{y}}^2 u = \left[\partial_{y_i y_j} u\right]_{n \times n} = P^\top D_Y^2 u P.$$

Thus we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} u = \operatorname{Tr}(\tilde{A}_0^{\top} D_{\mathbf{y}}^2 u) = \operatorname{Tr}(J_0^{\top} A_0 J_0 \cdot P^{\top} D_Y^2 u P)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}(P J_0^{\top} A_0 J_0 P^{\top} \cdot D_Y^2 u)$$
$$= \bigtriangleup_Y u.$$

Then equation (6.1) becomes

$$\Delta_Y u = \hat{f}.\tag{6.7}$$

The boundaries Γ_1 and Γ_2 become

$$\overline{\Gamma}_1 = \{ Y_2 = 0, \ Y_1 > 0, \ Y' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \},\$$

$$\overline{\Gamma}_2 = \{ Y_2 = \tan \omega_{\rm s} \, Y_1, \ Y_1 > 0, \ Y' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \},\$$

where

$$\tan \omega_{\rm s} = \frac{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+}{q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}} \sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2},$$



FIGURE 6.2. Condition (6.11) and the shock polar: Perpendicular cases

The boundary condition (6.2) becomes

$$\partial_{Y_2} u = \overline{g}_1 := \frac{c_0^+}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_w - q_0^+} \hat{g}_1, \tag{6.8}$$

and the boundary condition (6.3) becomes

$$\frac{\nu_1}{\sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}} \partial_{Y_1} u + \nu_2 \partial_{Y_2} u = \overline{g}_2 := c_0^+ \hat{g}_2, \tag{6.9}$$

which can be rewritten under the polar coordinates for (Y_1, Y_2) as

$$\frac{1}{r}\partial_{\omega}u + \tan(\omega_{\rm s} + \Phi_{\rm s})\partial_{r}u = \frac{\cos\Phi_{\rm s}}{\cos(\omega_{\rm s} + \Phi_{\rm s})}\frac{\overline{g}_{2}}{\nu_{2}}$$

where

$$\tan \Phi_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}} \frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2}.$$

Remark 6.3. Applying Theorem 4.4, we conclude that problem (6.7)–(6.9) can be wellposed in the weighted Hölder space $C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})$ for any admissible weight $\beta := 1 + \alpha - \sigma$ with σ satisfying

$$-1 < \sigma < \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}}.$$

On the other hand, we also need solution u to be physically reasonable such that the velocity is bounded. Then Du should be bounded in \mathscr{D} . Therefore, there exist valid admissible weights β which are further applicable to our stability problem, only when constant $\sigma_{\rm s} := \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}}$ satisfies the condition:

$$\sigma_{\rm s} > 0, \tag{6.10}$$

that is,

$$\Phi_{\rm s} > 0,$$
 or equivalently $\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} > 0.$ (6.11)

Let $\Psi = \operatorname{arccot}(\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2})$. Then condition (6.11) yields that

$$0 < \Psi < \frac{\pi}{2}.\tag{6.12}$$

We remark that Ψ equals the angle between the velocity vector and the outer normal of the shock polar (see Fig. 6.2). Then we can observe that, for the strong transonic shock solution represented by point A on the shock polar,

$$\frac{\pi}{2} < \Psi_A < \pi;$$

while, for the weak transonic shock solution represented by point B,

$$0 < \Psi_B < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$

This means that, via this analysis, the following well-posedness theorem, which is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.4, can be established only for weak transmic shocks, that is, the shock solution represented by point B.

Theorem 6.4. Suppose that (6.10) holds. Let

$$-1 < \sigma_{\infty} \le 0 < \sigma_0 < \sigma_s. \tag{6.13}$$

Assume that

$$\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad \overline{g}_j \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\Gamma_j), \ j=1,2,$$

where $\beta_0 = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0$ and $\beta_{\infty} = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_{\infty}$. Then there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_{\infty}}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (6.7)–(6.9) satisfying the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le C\Big(\|\widehat{f}\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} + \sum_{j=1}^2 \|\overline{g}_j\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_j)}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)}\Big).$$
(6.14)

Then Theorem 6.1 is a direct consequence of Theorem 6.4.

6.2. The general case that the incoming supersonic flow may not be perpendicular to the edge. In this case, $|\omega_1| < \frac{\pi}{2}$ (see Fig. 3.1). Taking $P = (J_0^{-1})^{\top}$, equation (6.1) becomes

$$(1 - M^{2} \cos^{2} \omega_{1}) \partial_{Y_{1}Y_{1}} u - 2M^{2} \cos \omega_{1} \cos \omega_{3} \partial_{Y_{1}Y_{3}} u + (1 - M^{2} \cos^{2} \omega_{3}) \partial_{Y_{3}Y_{3}} u + \partial_{Y_{2}Y_{2}} u + \sum_{i=4}^{n} \partial_{Y_{i}Y_{i}} u = \frac{\hat{f}}{(c_{0}^{+})^{2}},$$
(6.15)

where $M = \frac{q_0^+}{c_0^+}$. The boundaries Γ_1 and Γ_2 become

$$\overline{\Gamma}_1 = \{ Y_2 = 0, \ Y_1 > 0, \ Y_3 \in \mathbb{R} \},\$$

$$\overline{\Gamma}_2 = \{ Y_2 = \tan \omega_{\rm s} Y_1, \ Y_1 > 0, \ Y_3 \in \mathbb{R} \},\$$

where

$$\tan \omega_{\rm s} = \frac{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1}{q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}}$$

The boundary condition (6.2) becomes

$$\partial_{Y_2} u = \overline{g}_1 := \frac{g_1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\mathrm{w}} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1},\tag{6.16}$$

and the boundary condition (6.3) becomes

$$\nu_1 \partial_{Y_1} u + \nu_2 \partial_{Y_2} u + \nu_3 \partial_{Y_3} u = \overline{g}_2 := \hat{g}_2.$$

$$(6.17)$$

Now we rewrite the operator in equation (6.15) into the Laplacian. Let

$$P_0 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ \frac{M^2 \cos \omega_1 \cos \omega_3}{\sqrt{(1 - M^2)(1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1)}} & 0 & \sqrt{\frac{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}{1 - M^2}} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & I_{n-3} \end{bmatrix}_{n \times n}^{n}$$

and

$$X = P_0 Y.$$

Then equation (6.15) becomes

$$\Delta_X u = \hat{f},\tag{6.18}$$

and the boundaries $\overline{\Gamma}_1$ and $\overline{\Gamma}_2$ become

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{1} = \{X_{2} = 0, X_{1} > 0, X' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}\},\$$

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{2} = \{X_{2} = \tan \widetilde{\omega}_{s} X_{1}, X_{1} > 0, X' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}\}$$

with

$$\tan \widetilde{\omega}_{\rm s} = \frac{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ \cos \omega_1}{q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}} \sqrt{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}$$

the boundary condition (6.16) becomes

$$\partial_{X_2} u = \overline{g}_1, \tag{6.19}$$

and the boundary condition (6.17) becomes

$$\widetilde{\nu_1}\partial_{X_1}u + \widetilde{\nu_2}\partial_{X_2}u + \widetilde{\nu_3}\partial_{X_3}u = \overline{g}_2, \tag{6.20}$$

22

where

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\nu}} = \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\nu_1} \\ \widetilde{\nu_2} \\ \widetilde{\nu_3} \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = P_0 \boldsymbol{\nu} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\nu_1}{\sqrt{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}} \\ \frac{\nu_2}{\sqrt{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}} (\frac{M^2 \cos \omega_1 \cos \omega_3}{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1} \nu_1 + \nu_3) \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

The boundary condition can be rewritten under the polar coordinates for (X_1, X_2) as

$$\frac{1}{r}\partial_{\omega}u + \tan(\widetilde{\omega}_{s} + \widetilde{\Phi}_{s})\partial_{r}u + \frac{\widetilde{\nu}_{3}}{\widetilde{\nu}_{2}}\partial_{X_{3}}u = \frac{\widetilde{\Phi}_{s}}{\cos(\widetilde{\omega}_{s} + \widetilde{\Phi}_{s})}\frac{\overline{g}_{2}}{\widetilde{\nu}_{2}},\tag{6.21}$$

where

$$\tan \widetilde{\Phi}_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - M^2 \cos^2 \omega_1}} \frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2}$$

Remark 6.5. By Theorem 4.4, we conclude that problem (6.18)–(6.21) can be well-posed in the weighted Hölder space $\mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta}(\mathscr{D})$ for any admissible weight $\beta := 1 + \alpha - \sigma$ with σ satisfying

$$-1 < \sigma < \frac{\widetilde{\Phi}_{\rm s}}{\widetilde{\omega}_{\rm s}}.$$

On the other hand, we also need solution u to be physically reasonable such that the velocity is bounded. Then Du should be bounded in \mathscr{D} . Therefore, there exist valid admissible weights β which are further applicable to our stability problem, only when constant $\tilde{\sigma}_{s} := \frac{\tilde{\Phi}_{s}}{\tilde{\omega}_{s}}$ satisfies the condition:

$$\widetilde{\sigma}_{\rm s} > 0,$$
 (6.22)

that is,

 $\widetilde{\Phi}_{\rm s} > 0,$ or equivalently, $\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} > 0.$ (6.23)

Let

$$\Psi := \operatorname{arccot}(\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2}).$$

Then (6.23) yields that

$$0 < \Psi < \frac{\pi}{2}.\tag{6.24}$$

If the shock polar is projected onto the (v_1, v_2) -plane (see Fig. 6.3), then Ψ is the exact angle between the projection of the velocity behind the shock-front and the projection of the outer normal of the shock balloon. Moreover, we can observe that, for the strong transonic shock solution represented by point A on the shock polar,

$$\frac{\pi}{2} < \Psi_A < \pi;$$

while, for the weak transonic shock solution represented by point B,

$$0 < \Psi_B < \frac{\pi}{2}.$$



FIGURE 6.3. Condition (6.23) and the shock polar: General cases

This also means that, via this analysis, the following well-posedness theorem, which is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.4, can only be established for weak transmic shocks, that is, the shock solution represented by point B. Therefore, we have the following similar theorem to Theorem 6.4.

Theorem 6.6. Suppose that (6.23) holds. Let

$$-1 < \sigma_{\infty} \le 0 < \sigma_0 < \widetilde{\sigma}_{\rm s}.\tag{6.25}$$

Assume that

$$\hat{f} \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad \overline{g}_j \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\Gamma_j), \ j=1,2,$$

where $\beta_0 = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0$ and $\beta_{\infty} = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_{\infty}$. Then there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_{\infty}}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (6.1)–(6.3) satisfying the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le C\Big(\|\widehat{f}\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} + \sum_{j=1}^2 \|\overline{g}_j\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_j)}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)}\Big).$$
(6.26)

It can be seen that Theorem 6.1 is a direct consequence of Theorem 6.6.

7. The Iteration Scheme

Now we develop the iteration scheme to solve the nonlinear problem (5.1)–(5.3) to establish Theorem 5.2.

Let $-1 < \sigma_{\infty} \leq 0 < \sigma_0$ be the constants defined in (6.13) or (6.25). Define

$$O_{\epsilon}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_{\infty})} = \left\{ u \in \mathcal{C}^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_{\infty}}(\mathscr{D}) : \|u\|^{(\beta_0,\beta_{\infty})}_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})} \le \epsilon \right\},\$$

where $\beta_0 = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0$ and $\beta_{\infty} = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_{\infty}$.

Let

$$\mathscr{D} = \left\{ \mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \mathbf{y}')^\top \in \mathbb{R}^n : y_1 > 0, y_2 > 0, \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \right\},\$$

$$\Gamma_1 = \left\{ \mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \mathbf{y}')^\top \in \mathbb{R}^n : y_1 > 0, y_2 = 0, \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \right\},\$$

$$\Gamma_2 = \left\{ \mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2, \mathbf{y}')^\top \in \mathbb{R}^n : y_1 = 0, y_2 > 0, \mathbf{y}' \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} \right\},\$$

Let

$$u(\mathbf{y}) = u_0(\mathbf{y}) + \dot{u}(\mathbf{y}),$$
$$v(\mathbf{y}) = u_0(\mathbf{y}) + \dot{v}(\mathbf{y}).$$

Assume that $\dot{v}(\mathbf{y}) \in O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$ with K > 0 and $0 < \delta \ll 1$ to be determined later. The iteration scheme is determined by solving the linearized elliptic boundary value problem:

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} \dot{u} = f(\dot{v}; \varphi_{w}) \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}, \qquad (7.1)$$

$$\nabla_{Du}G_j(Du_0;0) \cdot D\dot{u} = g_j(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) \qquad \text{on } \Gamma_j, \ j = 1,2, \tag{7.2}$$

where

$$f(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_{i}y_{j}} \dot{v} - \frac{(\partial_{y_{1}}u_{0})^{3}}{(\partial_{y_{1}}v)^{3}} \Big(\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij} \partial_{y_{i}y_{j}}v - (\partial_{y_{1}}v)^{3} \Phi_{\mathbf{w}}(D^{2}\varphi_{\mathbf{w}};Dv;D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(v,\mathbf{y}'))\Big),$$
$$g_{j}(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) = \nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Du_{0};0) \cdot D\dot{v} - G_{j}(Dv;D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(v,\mathbf{y}')), \quad j = 1,2.$$

Lemma 7.1. There exist a sufficiently small constant $\delta_1 > 0$ and a constant K > 1 that is independent of δ_1 such that, for any $0 < \delta \leq \delta_1$ and $\dot{v}(\mathbf{y}) \in O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$, there exists a unique solution $\dot{u}(\mathbf{y}) \in O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$ to the boundary value problem (7.1)–(7.2). That is, the mapping

 $\mathscr{J}: \ \dot{v} \mapsto \dot{u}$

is well-defined in $O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$.

Proof. Notice that

$$\tilde{a}_{ij} - \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} = \tilde{a}_{ij}(Dv; D\varphi_{0}^{-}; D\varphi_{w}(v, \mathbf{y}')) - \tilde{a}_{ij}(Du_{0}; D\varphi_{0}^{-}; 0)$$
$$= \int_{0}^{1} \nabla_{Du} \tilde{a}_{ij}(t) dt \cdot D\dot{v} + \int_{0}^{1} \nabla_{D\varphi_{w}} \tilde{a}_{ij}(t) dt \cdot D\varphi_{w}(v, \mathbf{y}'),$$

where

$$\nabla_{Du}\tilde{a}_{ij}(t) := \nabla_{Du}\tilde{a}_{ij}(Du_0 + tD\dot{v}; D\varphi_0^-; tD\varphi_w(v, \mathbf{y}')),$$

$$\nabla_{D\varphi_w}\tilde{a}_{ij}(t) := \nabla_{D\varphi_w}\tilde{a}_{ij}(Du_0 + tD\dot{v}; D\varphi_0^-; tD\varphi_w(v, \mathbf{y}')).$$

Since

$$\|D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u_0,\mathbf{y}')\|_{\mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\alpha}(\mathscr{D})} \leq \delta,$$

and \tilde{a}_{ij} is a smooth function with respect to all of its parameters, we have

$$\|\tilde{a}_{ij} - \tilde{a}_{ij}^0\|_{\mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\alpha}(\mathscr{D})} \le CK\delta$$

Since

$$\left\|\frac{(\partial_{y_1}u_0)^3}{(\partial_{y_1}v)^3} - 1\right\|_{\mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\alpha}(\mathscr{D})} \le CK\delta,$$

we obtain via a direct computation and employing Proposition 4.3 that

$$\left\|\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} \dot{v} - \frac{(\partial_{y_1} u_0)^3}{(\partial_{y_1} v)^3} \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij} \partial_{y_i y_j} v\right\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le CK^2 \delta^2$$

We can also analogously verify that

$$\|\Phi_{\mathbf{w}}\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le C(1+K\delta)\delta,$$

since it is easy to check that

$$\Phi_{\mathbf{w}} = \sum_{i,j\neq 2} \partial_{x_i x_j} \varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(u, \mathbf{y}') \Phi_{\mathbf{w}}^{ij}(Du; D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}),$$

with $\Phi_{\rm w}^{ij}$ being some smooth functions of Du and $D\varphi_{\rm w}$.

Thus, we obtain that

$$\|f(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} \leq CK^{2}\delta^{2}.$$

Notice that

$$\nabla_{Du} G_1(Du_0; 0) \cdot D\dot{v} - G_1(Dv; 0) = -\frac{1}{2} (D\dot{v})^\top \int_0^1 \nabla_{Du}^2 G_1(t) dt D\dot{v},$$

$$G_1(Dv; D\varphi_{w}(v, \mathbf{y}')) - G_1(Dv; 0) = \int_0^1 \nabla_{D\varphi_{w}} G_1(t) dt \cdot D\varphi_{w}(v, \mathbf{y}'),$$

where

$$\nabla^2_{Du}G_1(t) := \nabla^2_{Du}G_1(Du_0 + tD\dot{v}; 0),$$

$$\nabla_{D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}}G_1(t) := \nabla_{D\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}}G_1(Dv; tD\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(v, \mathbf{y}'))$$

Thus, we also obtain

$$\|g_1(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_1)}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le C\left(1+K^2\delta\right)\delta.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\left|g_2(\dot{v};\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})\right|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_2)}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le C\left(1+K^2\delta\right)\delta$$

Therefore, there exists a unique solution $\dot{u} \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0,\beta_\infty}(\mathscr{D})$ with the following estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{u}\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} &\leq C\Big(\|f(\dot{v};\varphi_{w})\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} + \sum_{j=1,2} \|g_{j}(\dot{v};\varphi_{w})\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})}\Big) \\ &\leq C\left(1+K^{2}\delta\right)\delta \leq C_{1}\delta \end{aligned}$$

for given K and sufficiently small δ .

Fix $K = C_1$ from now on. Then we find that $\dot{u}(\mathbf{y}) \in O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$, and the mapping

$$\mathscr{J}: \dot{v} \mapsto \dot{u}$$

is well-defined in $O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$. This completes the proof.

Lemma 7.2. There exists a sufficiently small constant $\delta_0 > 0$ such that, for any $0 < \delta \leq \delta_0$, \mathscr{J} is a contraction mapping in $O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$.

26

Proof. Denote that $(\dot{u}_1, \dot{u}_2) := \mathscr{J}(\dot{v}_1, \dot{v}_2)$. Then we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} \left(\dot{u}_1 - \dot{u}_2 \right) = f(\dot{v}_1; \varphi_w) - f(\dot{v}_2; \varphi_w) \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}, \tag{7.3}$$

$$\nabla_{Du} G_j(Du_0,;0) \cdot D(\dot{u}_1 - \dot{u}_2) = g_j(\dot{v}_1;\varphi_w) - g_j(\dot{v}_2;\varphi_w) \quad \text{on } \Gamma_j.$$
(7.4)

For the right-hand side of equation (7.3),

$$\begin{aligned} f(\dot{v}_{1};\varphi_{w}) - f(\dot{v}_{2};\varphi_{w}) &= \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} - \frac{(\partial_{y_{1}}u_{0})^{3}}{(\partial_{y_{1}}v_{1})^{3}} \tilde{a}_{ij}(\dot{v}_{1}) \right) \partial_{y_{i}y_{j}} \left(\dot{v}_{1} - \dot{v}_{2} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{(\partial_{y_{1}}u_{0})^{3}}{(\partial_{y_{1}}v_{1})^{3}} \tilde{a}_{ij}(\dot{v}_{1}) - \frac{(\partial_{y_{1}}u_{0})^{3}}{(\partial_{y_{1}}v_{2})^{3}} \tilde{a}_{ij}(\dot{v}_{2}) \right) \partial_{y_{i}y_{j}} \dot{v}_{2} \\ &+ \sum_{i,j\neq 2} \left(\partial_{x_{i}x_{j}}\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}') - \partial_{x_{i}x_{j}}\varphi_{w}(v_{2},\mathbf{y}') \right) \Phi_{w}^{ij}(Dv_{1};D\varphi_{w}) \\ &+ \sum_{i,j\neq 2} \partial_{x_{i}x_{j}}\varphi_{w}(v_{2},\mathbf{y}') \left(\Phi_{w}^{ij}(Dv_{1};D\varphi_{w}) - \Phi_{w}^{ij}(Dv_{2};D\varphi_{w}) \right), \end{aligned}$$

which, with analogous computations as in Lemma 7.1, implies

~

$$\|f(\dot{v}_1;\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) - f(\dot{v}_2;\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le CK\delta\|\dot{v}_1 - \dot{v}_2\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)}.$$

For the right-hand side of the boundary condition (7.4) on Γ_j , j = 1, 2,

$$\begin{split} g_{j}(\dot{v}_{1};\varphi_{w}) &- g_{j}(\dot{v}_{2};\varphi_{w}) \\ &= \nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Du_{0};0) \cdot D\left(\dot{v}_{1} - \dot{v}_{2}\right) - \left(G_{j}(Dv_{1};0) - G_{j}(Dv_{2};0)\right) \\ &+ \left(G_{j}(Dv_{1};0) - G_{j}(Dv_{2};0)\right) \\ &- \left(G_{j}(Dv_{1};D\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}')) - G_{j}(Dv_{2};D\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}'))\right) \\ &- \left(G_{j}(Dv_{2};D\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}')) - G_{j}(Dv_{2};D\varphi_{w}(v_{2},\mathbf{y}'))\right) \\ &= \int_{0}^{1} \left(\nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Du_{0};0) - \nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Dv_{t};0)\right) dt \cdot D\left(\dot{v}_{1} - \dot{v}_{2}\right) \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} \left(\nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Dv_{t};0) - \nabla_{Du}G_{j}(Dv_{t};D\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}'))\right) dt \cdot D\left(\dot{v}_{1} - \dot{v}_{2}\right) \\ &- \int_{0}^{1} \nabla_{D\varphi_{w}}G_{j}(Dv_{2};D\varphi_{w}^{t}) dt \cdot D\left(\varphi_{w}(v_{1},\mathbf{y}') - \varphi_{w}(v_{2},\mathbf{y}')\right), \end{split}$$

which implies

$$\|g_j(\dot{v}_1;\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}) - g_j(\dot{v}_2;\varphi_{\mathbf{w}})\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_j)}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le CK\delta\|\dot{v}_1 - \dot{v}_2\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\begin{split} &\|\dot{u}_{1} - \dot{u}_{2}\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} \\ &\leq C\Big(\|f(\dot{v}_{1};\varphi_{w}) - f(\dot{v}_{2};\varphi_{w})\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})} + \sum_{j=1,2} \|g_{j}(\dot{v}_{1};\varphi_{w}) - g_{j}(\dot{v}_{2};\varphi_{w})\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})}\Big) \\ &\leq CK\delta\|\dot{v}_{1} - \dot{v}_{2}\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0},\beta_{\infty})}. \end{split}$$

Then, choosing $0 < \delta \leq \delta_0$ such that $CK\delta_0 = \frac{1}{2}$, we have

$$\|\dot{u}_1 - \dot{u}_2\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)} \le \frac{1}{2} \|\dot{v}_1 - \dot{v}_2\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0,\beta_\infty)},$$

which implies that the mapping \mathscr{J} is a contraction mapping in $O_{K\delta}^{(\sigma_0,\sigma_\infty)}$.

Combining Lemma 7.1 with Lemma 7.2, we obtain Theorem 5.2.

8. The Two-Dimensional Case

From Theorem 3.1 and Remarks 6.3 and 6.5, we can see that, for an M-D wedge $(n \ge 3)$, the weak transonic shock solution, which is represented by point B on the shock polar (see Fig. 2.1), is conditionally stable when the wedge edge is not perturbed and the perturbation of the wedge surface is within some weighted Hölder spaces. However, the stability of the strong transonic shock solution, represented by point A on the shock polar, may require a different approach, since condition (4.4) for the admissible weights cannot be improved. This fact is indeed interesting since, for the 2-D wedge, both the weak and strong transonic shock solutions are conditionally stable, except the critical point S_* (see [10, 15]). Moreover, for the strong case, we can even have better regularity at the wedge vertex. We now show these facts in this section.

For a 2-D wedge, its edge shrinks to a point. Thus, we can consider the stability problem as a special situation for the case that the incoming supersonic flow is perpendicular to the wedge edge with the perturbation of the whole fluid, independent of \mathbf{x}' or \mathbf{y}' . Therefore, the partial hodograph transformation and the nonlinear iteration scheme are still valid. On the other hand, this yields the differences for the linearized elliptic problem (6.1)–(6.3), since the singularity of \mathscr{D} is a straight line for n = 3 and a hyperplane for $n \ge 4$, while it is only a point for n = 2 for which the better results can be achieved.

For n = 2, equation (6.1) becomes

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{2} \tilde{a}_{ij}^{0} \partial_{y_i y_j} u = \hat{f}, \qquad (8.1)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{A}_0 &:= \left[\tilde{a}_{ij}^0 \right]_{2 \times 2} = J_0^\top A_0 J_0, \\ A_0 &= A(D\varphi_0^+) = \left[a_{ij}^0 \right]_{2 \times 2} = \left(c_0^+ \right)^2 \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \left(M_0^+ \right)^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \\ J_0 &= J\left(Du_0; 0 \right) = \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} \begin{bmatrix} q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+ & 0 \\ -q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w} & 1 \end{bmatrix}. \end{split}$$

The boundary condition (6.2) on Γ_1 remains unchanged:

$$-q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\mathbf{w}} \partial_{y_1} u + \partial_{y_2} u = \hat{g}_1, \tag{8.2}$$

and condition (6.3) on Γ_2 is

$$(Du)^{\top} \cdot J_0 \boldsymbol{\nu} = \hat{g}_2, \tag{8.3}$$



FIGURE 8.1. The two-dimensional case

where $\boldsymbol{\nu} = (\nu_1, \nu_2)^\top = \nabla_{D\varphi} H_{\rm s}(D\varphi_0)$, the unit outer normal of the 2-D shock polar. Let

where

$$P = A_0^{-\frac{1}{2}} (J_0^{-1})^\top$$

 $Y = P\mathbf{y},$

with

$$\begin{split} A_0^{-\frac{1}{2}} &= \frac{1}{c_0^+} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}} & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \\ J_0^{-1} &= (q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} & 0\\ \frac{q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} & 1 \end{bmatrix} \end{split}$$

Then equation (8.1) becomes

$$\partial_{Y_1Y_1}u + \partial_{Y_2Y_2}u = \hat{f}.$$
(8.4)

The boundaries Γ_1 and Γ_2 become

$$\overline{\Gamma}_1 = \{Y_2 = 0, Y_1 > 0\},\$$

$$\overline{\Gamma}_2 = \{Y_2 = \tan \omega_{\rm s} Y_1, Y_1 > 0\},\$$

where

$$\tan \omega_{\rm s} = \frac{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+}{q_0^- \sin \alpha_{\rm w}} \sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}.$$

The boundary condition (8.2) becomes

$$\partial_{Y_2} u = \overline{g}_1 := \frac{c_0^+}{q_0^- \cos \alpha_{\rm w} - q_0^+} \hat{g}_1, \tag{8.5}$$

and the boundary condition (8.3) becomes

$$\frac{\nu_1}{\sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}} \partial_{Y_1} u + \nu_2 \partial_{Y_2} u = \overline{g}_2 := c_0^+ \hat{g}_2, \tag{8.6}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\frac{1}{r}\partial_{\omega}u + \tan(\omega_{\rm s} + \Phi_{\rm s})\partial_{r}u = \frac{\cos\Phi_{\rm s}}{\cos(\omega_{\rm s} + \Phi_{\rm s})}\frac{\overline{g}_{2}}{\nu_{2}}$$

under the polar coordinates for (Y_1, Y_2) , where

$$\tan \Phi_{\rm s} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (M_0^+)^2}} \frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2}.$$

In the stability analysis of 2-D transonic shocks, problem (8.4)-(8.6) plays the same role as problem (6.7)-(6.9) for the M-D case with the incoming supersonic flow orthogonal to the edge. Notice that both problems have the same formulation with the only difference of the dimension of the domain between them. Thus, it is Theorem A.2, rather than Theorem 4.4, that will be employed to establish the well-posedness of problem (8.4)-(8.6) so that the following lemma can be concluded, which is better than Theorem 6.4.

Lemma 8.1. Let Λ be the set of eigenvalues λ satisfying (A.13):

$$\Lambda = \{0\} \cup \left\{1 + \frac{m\pi + \Phi_{\mathrm{s}}}{\omega_{\mathrm{s}}} : m \in \mathbb{Z}\right\}.$$

Let $\sigma_1 < \sigma_2$ and $\beta_j = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_j$. If

$$[1+\sigma_1, 1+\sigma_2] \cap \Lambda = \emptyset,$$

and

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}\left(\mathscr{D}\right), \qquad \overline{g}_j \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}\left(\Gamma_j\right), \ j = 1, 2,$$

then there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (8.4)–(8.6) with the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})} \leq C\Big(\|f\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \|\overline{g}_{j}\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{1},\beta_{2})}\Big).$$
(8.7)

Remark 8.2. From the definition of the weighted Hölder norms, we can see that the weight power σ_1 describes the asymptotic behavior of solution u with the property that $Du = O(r^{\sigma_1})$ as $r \to \infty$, while the weight power σ_2 describes the regularity of u at the origin with the property that $Du = O(r^{\sigma_2})$ as $r \to 0$. Since, in the stability analysis of the wedge shocks, Du relates with the velocity field of the flow, we expect that Du should be bounded

30

in \mathcal{D} . Therefore, we need that

$$\sigma_1 \le 0 \le \sigma_2.$$

Then, in order to decide the applicable admissible weights, we need to calculate the eigenvalues corresponding to m = -1, 0, 1 in set Λ . By definition, $-\frac{\pi}{2} < \Phi_{\rm s} < \frac{\pi}{2}$ and $0 < \omega_{\rm s} < \frac{\pi}{2}$. Thus, for m = -1,

$$\lambda_{-1} := 1 + \frac{-\pi + \Phi_{\mathrm{s}}}{\omega_{\mathrm{s}}} < 0;$$

for m = 0,

$$\lambda_0 := 1 + \frac{\Phi_s}{\omega_s} := 1 + \sigma_s;$$

and for m = 1,

$$\lambda_1 := 1 + \frac{\pi + \Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}} > 2.$$

That is, we obtain the following inequality for the eigenvalues $\{\lambda_{-1}, 0, \lambda_0, \lambda_1\} \subset \Lambda$:

$$\lambda_{-1} < 0, \ \lambda_0 < \lambda_1, \qquad \text{or} \qquad \lambda_{-1} - 1 < -1, \ \sigma_s < \lambda_1 - 1$$

Therefore, in order to decide the applicable admissible weights, we need to compare λ_0 with 1, or equivalently, to compare σ_s with 0. Notice that σ_s is determined by the background shock solution. One can verify that $\sigma_s < 0$ for the strong transonic shock represented by A, $\sigma_s > 0$ for the weak transonic shock represented by B, and $\sigma_s = 0$ for the critical shock solution represented by S_* (see Fig. 8.1).

For the strong transonic shock solution represented by A on the shock polar, we have

$$\sigma_{\rm s} = \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}} < 0.$$

Then any σ_1 and σ_2 satisfying

$$\max(-1, \sigma_{\rm s}) < \sigma_1 \le 0 \le \sigma_2 < \lambda_1 - 1$$

can be applicable weights. Since $\lambda_1 > 2$, the regularity of velocity Du near the origin (the wedge vertex) can be C^1 , or even better. Velocity Du decays slower than r^{-1} as $r \to \infty$, while Du decays slower than r^{σ_s} in case $\sigma_s > -1$.

For the weak transonic shock solution represented by B, we have

$$\sigma_{\rm s} = \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}} > 0.$$

Then any σ_1 and σ_2 satisfying

$$-1 < \sigma_1 \le 0 \le \sigma_2 < \sigma_s$$

can be applicable weights, and solution u can be $\mathcal{C}^{1+\sigma_2}$ near the origin (the wedge vertex), while Du decays slower than r^{σ_1} as $r \to \infty$.

Concluding the above argument, we obtain the following theorem for the linearized problem (8.1)-(8.3).

Theorem 8.3. Let $(U_0^-; U_0^+)$ be a transonic shock solution on the shock polar (see Fig. 8.1).

(i). If $(U_0^-; U_0^+)$ is the strong transonic shock solution represented by A, which implies that

$$\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} < 0,$$

then, for any σ_0^A and σ_∞^A with

$$\max\left\{-1, \ \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}}\right\} < \sigma_{\infty}^A \le 0 \le \sigma_0^A < \frac{\pi + \Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}},$$

when

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad g_j \in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A}(\Gamma_j), \ j = 1, 2,$$

with $\beta_0^A = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0^A$ and $\beta_\infty^A = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_\infty^A$, there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (8.1)–(8.3) satisfying the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A)} \le C\Big(\|f\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A)} + \sum_{j=1}^2 \|g_j\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_j)}^{(\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A)}\Big).$$
(8.8)

(ii). If $(U_0^-; U_0^+)$ is the weak transonic shock solution represented by B, which implies that

$$\frac{\nu_1}{\nu_2} > 0,$$

then, for any σ_0^B and σ_∞^B with

$$-1 < \sigma_{\infty}^B \le 0 \le \sigma_0^B < \frac{\Phi_{\rm s}}{\omega_{\rm s}},$$

when

$$f\in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{\beta^B_0,\beta^B_\infty}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad g_j\in \mathcal{C}^{1,\alpha}_{\beta^B_0,\beta^B_\infty}(\Gamma_j), \ j=1,2,$$

with $\beta_0^B = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0^B$ and $\beta_\infty^B = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_\infty^B$, there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{2,\alpha}_{\beta_0^B,\beta_\infty^B}(\mathscr{D})$ to the boundary value problem (8.1)–(8.3) satisfying the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0}^{B},\beta_{\infty}^{B})} \leq C\Big(\|f\|_{(0,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_{0}^{B},\beta_{\infty}^{B})} + \sum_{j=1}^{2} \|g_{j}\|_{(1,\alpha;\Gamma_{j})}^{(\beta_{0}^{B},\beta_{\infty}^{B})}\Big).$$
(8.9)

Then, with an analogous nonlinear iteration argument as in §7 for $n \ge 3$, we can obtain the following stability theorem for both the weak transonic shock solution and the strong one.

Theorem 8.4. Let $(\varphi_0^{-}(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^{+}(\mathbf{x}))$ be a transonic shock solution.

(i). If $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}))$ is the strong transonic shock solution that is represented by A on the shock polar (see Fig. 8.1), then there exist $\delta_0^A > 0$ sufficiently small and $\sigma_s := \frac{\Phi_s}{\omega_s} < 0$, depending on the background solution, such that, for any

$$\max\left\{-1, \ \sigma_{\rm s}\right\} < \sigma_{\infty}^A \le 0 \le \sigma_0^A < \frac{\pi}{\omega_{\rm s}} + \sigma_{\rm s},$$

when the perturbation of the wedge surface Γ_w is small in the sense that

$$\|\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1)\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathbb{R}_+)}^{(\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A)} \le \delta \le \delta_0^A,$$

32

with $\beta_0^A = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0^A$ and $\beta_\infty^A = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_\infty^A$, there exists a unique solution $u(\mathbf{y})$ to the boundary value problem (5.1)–(5.3) satisfying

$$\|u - u_0\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0^A,\beta_\infty^A)} \le K\delta,$$

where K > 0 depends on the background solution, but is independent of δ_0^A .

(ii). If $(\varphi_0^-(\mathbf{x}); \varphi_0^+(\mathbf{x}))$ is the weak transonic shock solution, that is, the one represented by B on the shock polar (see Fig. 8.1), then there exist $\delta_0^B > 0$ sufficiently small and $\sigma_s := \frac{\Phi_s}{\omega_s} > 0$, depending on the background solution, such that, for any

$$-1 < \sigma_{\infty}^B \le 0 \le \sigma_0^B < \sigma_{\rm s},$$

when the perturbation of the wedge surface Γ_w is small in the sense that

$$\|\varphi_{\mathbf{w}}(x_1)\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathbb{R}_+)}^{(\beta_0^B,\beta_\infty^B)} \le \delta \le \delta_0^B,$$

with $\beta_0^B = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_0^B$ and $\beta_\infty^B = 1 + \alpha - \sigma_\infty^B$, there exists a unique solution $u(\mathbf{y})$ to the boundary value problem (5.1)–(5.3) satisfying

$$\|u - u_0\|_{(2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\beta_0^B,\beta_\infty^B)} \le K\delta,$$

where K > 0 depends on the background solution, but is independent of δ_0^B .

Remark 8.5. When n = 2, we have the stability property for both the strong transonic shock solution represented by A and the weak one represented by B, that is, for all the transonic shock solutions on the shock polar except the critical one S_* . This result is better than the result we have obtained for $n \ge 3$ in §7, where only the stability property for the weak transonic shock solution represented by B is obtained.

Appendix A. Proof of Theorem 4.4

For self-containedness, in this appendix, we give a sketch of the proof of Theorem 4.4, based mainly on the results in Maz'ya, Plamenevskij, Reisman, and others in [23], [26]–[31], and [35], and the references therein.

A.1. Function spaces and the equipped norms. We first quote the weighted norms used in Maz'ya-Plamenevskij in [27]–[30].

A.1.1. Weighted Sobolev spaces in the dihedral angle $\mathscr{D} = K \times \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$. Let $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, $1 , <math>\ell = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$, and $D^{\ell} = \{D_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{k}} u : |\mathbf{k}| = \ell\}$. Define the weighted Sobolev norms:

$$\|u\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D})}^{p} := \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=0}^{\ell} \int_{\mathscr{D}} r^{p(\beta-\ell+|\mathbf{k}|)} \left| D_{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathbf{k}} u \right|^{p} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x},$$
(A.1)

where $r = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2}$ and $D = (\partial_{x_1}, \partial_{x_2}, \partial_{x_3}, \cdots, \partial_{x_n})$. Denote by $V^{\ell}(\mathcal{Q})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{\mathcal{Q}})$.

Denote by $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_{c}^{\infty}(\overline{\mathscr{D}} \setminus \mathscr{E})$ under norm (A.1). Denote by $\overset{\circ}{V}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D},\Gamma^{\pm})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_{c}^{\infty}(\mathscr{D})$ under norm (A.1).

Denote by $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\Gamma^{\pm})$ the space of traces on Γ^{\pm} of the functions in $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D})$, that is,

$$V_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\Gamma^{\pm}) = V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D})/\overset{\circ}{V}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D},\Gamma^{\pm}).$$

The corresponding trace norm is defined as

$$\|u\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\Gamma^{\pm})} := \inf\left\{\|v\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D})}: v - u \in \overset{\circ}{V}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(\mathscr{D},\Gamma^{\pm})\right\}.$$
(A.2)

A.1.2. The first type of weighted Sobolev spaces in the angular domain K. If n = 2, the dihedral angle \mathscr{D} becomes an angular domain K, and the edge \mathbb{R}^{n-2} shrinks to a point. In this case, we can also define analogous weighted Sobolev spaces and norms in the angular domain K, with $\mathbf{y} = (y_1, y_2)^\top \in K$.

Define

$$\|u\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)}^{p} := \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=0}^{\ell} \int_{K} r^{p(\beta-\ell+|\mathbf{k}|)} |D_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{k}}u|^{p} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y},$$
(A.3)

where $r^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 = |\mathbf{y}|^2$ and $D_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{k}} = \partial_{y_1}^{k_1} \partial_{y_2}^{k_2}$. Note that, by applying the blow-up transformation of the second mation \mathscr{B} : $t = \ln r$, K becomes an infinite strip:

$$\mathscr{S} := \left\{ (t, \omega) : t \in \mathbb{R}, -\frac{\omega_*}{2} < \omega < \frac{\omega_*}{2} \right\},$$

and

$$\|u\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)} \approx \left\| \mathbf{e}^{-\sigma t} u(\mathbf{e}^{t}, \omega) \right\|_{W_{p}^{\ell}(\mathscr{S})},$$

where $-\sigma = \beta - \ell + \frac{2}{p}$. Denote by $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\overline{K} \setminus \{O\})$ under norm (A.3). Denote by $\overset{\circ}{V}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K,\gamma^{\pm})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_{c}^{\infty}(K)$ under norm (A.3). Denote by $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})$ the space of traces on γ^{\pm} of the functions in $V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)$, that is,

$$V_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm}) = V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K) / \overset{\circ}{V}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K,\gamma^{\pm}).$$

The corresponding trace norm is defined as

$$\|u\|_{V^{\ell-1/p}_{p,\beta}(\gamma^{\pm})} := \inf \left\{ \|v\|_{V^{\ell}_{p,\beta}(K)} : v - u \in \overset{\circ}{V}^{\ell}_{p,\beta}(K, \gamma^{\pm}) \right\}.$$
(A.4)

A.1.3. The second type of weighted Sobolev spaces in the angular domain K. In the analysis, we also need the following weighted norms in K:

$$\|u\|_{E_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)}^{p} := \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=0}^{\ell} \int_{K} r^{p\beta} \left(1 + r^{p(|\mathbf{k}|-\ell)}\right) \left|D_{\mathbf{y}}^{\mathbf{k}}u\right|^{p} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{y}.$$
(A.5)

Then we also define the related function spaces and traces. Denote by $E_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}_{c}(\overline{K} \setminus \{O\})$ under norm (A.5). Denote by $\overset{\circ}{E}^{\ell}_{p,\beta}(K,\gamma^{\pm})$ the completion of set $\mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(K)$ under norm (A.5).

Denote by $E_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})$ the space of traces on γ^{\pm} of the functions in $E_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)$, that is,

$$E_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm}) = E_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K) / \overset{\circ}{E}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K,\gamma^{\pm}).$$

The corresponding trace norm is defined as

$$\|u\|_{E_{p,\beta}^{\ell-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})} := \inf \left\{ \|v\|_{E_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)} : v - u \in \overset{\circ}{E}_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K, \gamma^{\pm}) \right\}.$$
 (A.6)

A.2. Sketch of the proof of Theorem 4.4. Now we specify the major steps of the proof of Theorem 4.4 and the main consequences of each step.

A.2.1. Step 1: The well-posed theory for the homogeneous operator $(-\Delta_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0))$ in the angular domain K. Consider the boundary value problem of the homogeneous operator $(-\Delta_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0))$ in K, with $Y = (Y_1, Y_2)^{\top} \in K$:

$$\Delta_Y U(Y) = F(Y) \qquad \qquad \text{in } K, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y;0) U(Y) = G^{\pm}(Y) \qquad \text{on } \gamma^{\pm}, \qquad (A.8)$$

where $\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0) = \partial_{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}} + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}}.$

The L^2 well-posedness theory for boundary value problems for elliptic equations in an angular or conical domain was established in Kondrat'ev [21], and later it was improved to the L^p and Hölder well-posedness in Maz'ya-Plamenevskij [28]. We now employ their results to obtain the well-posedness of the solutions to problem (A.7)–(A.8). Here we only introduce the key conditions and theorems.

Let (r, ω) be the polar coordinates on K. Then we have

$$\Delta_Y := \frac{1}{r^2} P(\partial_\omega, r\partial_r) = \frac{1}{r^2} \left\{ (r\partial_r)^2 + (\partial_\omega)^2 \right\},$$

$$\mathscr{P}^{\pm} (D_Y; 0) := \frac{1}{r} P^{\pm} (\partial_\omega, r\partial_r) = \frac{1}{r} \left\{ \mp \partial_\omega + \alpha^{\pm} (r\partial_r) \right\}.$$

Set $v = r^{-\sigma}U$, and apply transformation \mathscr{B} . Then the boundary value problem (A.7)–(A.8) becomes

$$\partial_{\omega\omega}v + \partial_{tt}v + 2\sigma\partial_t vc + \sigma^2 v = e^{(2-\sigma)t}F := f \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{S}, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$\mp \partial_{\omega} v + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_t v + \sigma \alpha^{\pm} v = e^{(1-\sigma)t} G^{\pm} := g^{\pm} \qquad \text{on } \mathscr{B} \gamma^{\pm}. \tag{A.10}$$

Applying the Fourier transform with respect to $t \to \xi$ to problem (A.9)–(A.10), we obtain a boundary value problem of an ordinary differential equation with parameter $\lambda = \sigma + i\xi$:

$$\partial_{\omega\omega}\hat{v} + (\sigma + i\xi)^2 \,\hat{v} = \hat{f} \qquad \text{in } \omega^- < \omega < \omega^+, \qquad (A.11)$$

$$\mp \partial_{\omega} \hat{v} + (\sigma + i\xi) \,\alpha^{\pm} \hat{v} = \hat{g}^{\pm} \qquad \text{on } \omega = \omega^{\pm}, \qquad (A.12)$$

for given σ and any $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. In order to apply the inverse Fourier transform, we need the existence and uniqueness of solutions to the boundary value problems (A.11)–(A.12) for any $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, in the case that the homogeneous problem of (A.11)–(A.12) does not have nontrivial solutions, we can employ the inverse Fourier transform to obtain a solution v to problem (A.9)–(A.10). Then $U = r^{\sigma}v$ is the solution to problem (A.7)–(A.8). The complex number $\lambda = \sigma + i\xi$ is called an *eigenvalue* for problem (A.11)–(A.12) if the homogeneous problem of (A.11)–(A.12) has nontrivial solutions. It can be checked that a complex number λ is an eigenvalue for problem (A.11)–(A.12) if and only if

$$\lambda = 0,$$
 or $\lambda_m = \frac{m\pi - \Phi}{\omega_*}, m \in \mathbb{Z},$

where $\Phi = \arctan \alpha^{-} + \arctan \alpha^{+}$. Define the following set Λ to be the collection of the above eigenvalues:

$$\Lambda := \{0\} \cup \left\{ \frac{m\pi - \Phi}{\omega_*} : m \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$
(A.13)

Therefore, we can fulfill the above argument for σ satisfying

$$\sigma \notin \Lambda. \tag{A.14}$$

With the above calculations, Theorems 4.1–4.2 in Maz'ya-Plamenevskij [28] directly lead to the following theorem.

Theorem A.1. Let $1 , <math>\sigma \in \mathbb{R}$, $\ell = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$, and $\beta = \ell + 2 - \frac{2}{p} - \sigma$. Let $F \in V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)$ and $G^{\pm} \in V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+1-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})$. Then the boundary value problem (A.7)–(A.8) has a unique solution $u \in V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+2}(K)$ for all F and G^{\pm} if and only if the line:

$$\Re \lambda = \sigma$$

contains no eigenvalues of problem (A.11)–(A.12), that is, σ satisfies (A.14). Moreover, when (A.14) is satisfied, the following estimate holds:

$$\left\| e^{-\sigma t} u \right\|_{W_{p}^{\ell+2}(\mathscr{S})} \approx \| u \|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+2}(K)} \le C \Big(\|F\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}(K)} + \sum_{\pm} \|G^{\pm}\|_{V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+1-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})} \Big).$$
(A.15)

That is, operator $(-\triangle_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0))$ of problem (A.7)–(A.8) induces an isomorphism:

$$V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+2}\left(K\right) \approx V_{p,\beta}^{\ell}\left(K\right) \times \prod_{\pm} V_{p,\beta}^{\ell+1-1/p}\left(\gamma^{\pm}\right)$$

Theorem A.1 presents the L^p well-posedness for operator $(-\Delta_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0))$ of problem (A.7)–(A.8). The Schauder well-posedness for this problem has also been established in [28, Theorems 5.1–5.2], which leads to the following theorem.

Theorem A.2. Suppose that σ satisfies (A.14). Then operator $(-\Delta_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0))$ of problem (A.7)–(A.8) induces an isomorphism $\mathcal{C}^{\ell+2,\alpha}_{\beta}(K) \approx \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta}(K) \times \prod_{\pm} \mathcal{C}^{\ell+1,\alpha}_{\beta}(\gamma^{\pm})$ for $\beta = \ell + 2 + \alpha - \sigma$.

Moreover, let $\underline{\sigma} < \overline{\sigma}$ be two real numbers satisfying that strip $\underline{\sigma} < \Re \lambda < \overline{\sigma}$ in the complex plane \mathbb{C} contains no eigenvalues of problem (A.11)–(A.12). Assume $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in (\underline{\sigma}, \overline{\sigma})$, $\beta_j = \ell + 2 + \alpha - \sigma_j$, and

$$f \in \mathcal{C}^{\ell,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(K), \qquad g^{\pm} \in \mathcal{C}^{\ell+1,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(\gamma^{\pm}).$$

Then there exists a unique solution $u \in C^{\ell+2,\alpha}_{\beta_1,\beta_2}(K)$ of problem (A.7)–(A.8) with the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(2,\alpha;K)}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2)} \le C\Big(\|f\|_{(0,\alpha;K)}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2)} + \sum_{\pm} \|g^{\pm}\|_{(1,\alpha;\gamma^{\pm})}^{(\beta_1,\beta_2)}\Big).$$

A.2.2. Step 2: Fredholm property of the nonhomogeneous operator $(-\Delta_Y + 1, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; \theta))$ in the angular domain K. In this step, we consider the boundary value problem for the nonhomogeneous operator $\mathscr{A}(\theta) := (-\Delta_Y + 1, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; \theta))$:

$$-\bigtriangleup_Y U(Y) + U(Y) = F(Y) \qquad \text{in } K, \qquad (A.16)$$

$$\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y;\boldsymbol{\theta})U(Y) = G^{\pm}(Y) \qquad \text{on } \gamma^{\pm}, \tag{A.17}$$

where $\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; \boldsymbol{\theta}) := \partial_{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}} + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}} + \mathrm{i} \boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \mathbf{c}^{\pm}$ with $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in S^{n-3}$, the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^{n-2} .

Different from the homogeneous operator $(-\Delta_Y, \mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; 0)), \mathscr{A}(\theta)$ does not induce an isomorphism in general, unlike in Theorem A.1 or Theorem A.2 under the condition that σ satisfies (A.14). In fact, operator $\mathscr{A}(\theta)$ induces an Fredholm operator, as indicated in the following theorem shown in Maz'ya-Plamenevskij [27]:

Theorem A.3. Suppose that σ satisfies (A.14), that is, the line:

$$\Re \lambda = \sigma$$

contains no eigenvalues of problem (A.11)–(A.12). Then the operator induced by the boundary value problem (A.16)–(A.17) with $\beta = \ell + 2 - \frac{2}{p} - \sigma$:

$$\mathscr{A}(\boldsymbol{\theta}): \ E_{p,\beta}^2(K) \to E_{p,\beta}^0(K) \times \prod_{\pm} E_{p,\beta}^{1-1/p}(\gamma^{\pm})$$
(A.18)

is a Fredholm operator for all $\theta \in S^{n-3}$.

In fact, a more general theorem has been proved in [27] for elliptic operators with higher order. In applications, we usually need to verify that the kernel of $\mathscr{A}(\boldsymbol{\theta})$ is 0-dimensional, which is still a difficult problem. Fortunately, for our problem (A.16)–(A.17), we have a better theorem for $\ell = 0$ and p = 2, proved in Reisman [35, Lemma 3.1], by the energy method. In this theorem, a sufficient condition is presented which ensures that operator $\mathscr{A}(\boldsymbol{\theta})$ is an isomorphism.

Theorem A.4. Suppose that

$$-\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*} < \sigma < 0, \qquad or \qquad 0 < \sigma < -\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*}, \tag{A.19}$$

and $\beta = 1 - \sigma$. Then the following holds:

(i). If $U \in E^2_{2,\beta}(K)$ and satisfies problem (A.16)–(A.17), then

$$\|U\|_{E^{2}_{2,\beta}(K)} \le C\Big(\|F\|_{E^{0}_{2,\beta}(K)} + \sum_{\pm} \|G^{\pm}\|_{E^{1-1/2}_{2,\beta}(\gamma^{\pm})}\Big);$$
(A.20)

(ii). For any $(F, G^+, G^-) \in E^0_{2,\beta}(K) \times \prod_{\pm} E^{1-1/2}_{2,\beta}(\gamma^{\pm})$, there exists $U \in E^2_{2,\beta}(K)$ that solves problem (A.16)–(A.17).

A.2.3. Step 3: L^2 well-posedness for problem (4.2)–(4.3). Now we go back to our problem (4.2)–(4.3). Applying the Fourier transform with respect to \mathbf{x}' , we have

$$\Delta_X \hat{u}(X; \boldsymbol{\eta}) - \boldsymbol{\eta}^2 \hat{u}(X; \boldsymbol{\eta}) = \hat{f}(X; \boldsymbol{\eta}) \qquad \text{in } K, \text{ for } \boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}, \qquad (A.21)$$

GUI-QIANG CHEN AND BEIXIANG FANG

$$\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_X;\boldsymbol{\eta})\hat{u} = \hat{g}^{\pm}(X;\boldsymbol{\eta}) \qquad \text{on } \gamma^{\pm}, \text{ for } \boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}, \qquad (A.22)$$

where $X = (x_1, x_2)^{\top}$, and $\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_X; \boldsymbol{\eta}) := \partial_{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}} + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}} + i \boldsymbol{\eta} \cdot \mathbf{c}^{\pm}$. We hope that, for all $\boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}$, problem (A.21)–(A.22) has a unique solution $\hat{u}(X; \boldsymbol{\eta})$, so that the inverse Fourier transform can be employed to obtain the solution for problem (4.2)–(4.3).

If $\eta = 0$, by applying Theorem A.1, problem (A.21)–(A.22) is solvable in space $V_{2,\beta}^2(K)$ for $\beta = 1 - \sigma$ with σ satisfying (A.14).

If $\eta \neq 0$, by introducing the coordinate transform:

$$(X; \boldsymbol{\eta}) \mapsto (Y, \boldsymbol{\theta}) := (|\boldsymbol{\eta}| X, |\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-1} \boldsymbol{\eta}),$$

and defining

$$U(Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}) := |\boldsymbol{\eta}|^2 \, \hat{u}(|\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-1} Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}),$$

we find that problem (A.21)-(A.22) becomes a boundary value problem with the form as problem (A.16)-(A.17) in Step 2:

$$\Delta_Y U(Y; \boldsymbol{\eta}) - U(Y; \boldsymbol{\eta}) = F(Y; \boldsymbol{\eta}) \qquad \text{in } K, \text{ for } \boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}, \qquad (A.23)$$

$$\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y;\boldsymbol{\theta})U(Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}) = G^{\pm}(Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}) \qquad \text{on } \gamma^{\pm}, \text{ for } \boldsymbol{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^{n-2}, \qquad (A.24)$$

where $\mathscr{P}^{\pm}(D_Y; \boldsymbol{\theta}) := \partial_{\boldsymbol{\nu}^{\pm}} + \alpha^{\pm} \partial_{\boldsymbol{\tau}^{\pm}} + \mathrm{i} \boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \mathbf{c}^{\pm}$ with $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in S^{n-3}$, and

$$F(Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}) := \hat{f}(|\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-1}Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}), \quad G^{\pm}(Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}) := |\boldsymbol{\eta}|\,\hat{g}^{\pm}(|\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-1}Y;\boldsymbol{\eta}).$$

Thus, Theorem A.4, well-prepared in Step 2, can be employed to establish the existence and uniqueness, as well as the *a priori* estimates, of a solution to problem (A.23)–(A.24) for any parameter $\eta \neq 0$. Then the inverse Fourier transform with respect to η leads to a solution *u* of problem (4.2)–(4.3). We eventually obtain the following L^2 well-posedness theorem for problem (4.2)–(4.3).

Theorem A.5. Suppose that σ satisfies condition (A.19) and $\beta = 1 - \sigma$. Then the operator of the boundary value problem (4.2)–(4.3) induces an isomorphism

$$V_{2,\beta}^2(\mathscr{D}) \approx V_{2,\beta}^0(\mathscr{D}) \times \prod_{\pm} V_{2,\beta}^{1/2}(\Gamma^{\pm}).$$

Proof. It suffices to prove the unique solvability of problem (4.2)-(4.3) and to obtain the following estimate for homogeneous boundary conditions:

$$\|u\|_{V^{2}_{2,\beta}(\mathscr{D})} \le C \,\|f\|_{V^{0}_{2,\beta}(\mathscr{D})} \,. \tag{A.25}$$

Under the assumption that σ satisfies condition (A.19), by applying Theorem A.4, there exists a unique solution $U(Y; \eta) \in E^2_{2,\beta}(K)$ for any $\eta \neq 0$. Then

$$u(\mathbf{x}) = u(X, \mathbf{x}') = \mathscr{F}_{\eta \to \mathbf{x}'}^{-1} \left(\left| \eta \right|^{-2} U(Y; \eta) \right)$$

is the solution to problem (4.2)-(4.3). Noting that

$$\|u\|_{V_{2,\beta}^{2}(\mathscr{D})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-2}} |\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-2(\beta+1)} \|U\|_{E_{2,\beta}^{2}(K)}^{2} d\boldsymbol{\eta},$$

$$\|f\|_{V_{2,\beta}^{0}(\mathscr{D})} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-2}} |\boldsymbol{\eta}|^{-2(\beta+1)} \|F\|_{E_{2,\beta}^{0}(K)}^{2} d\boldsymbol{\eta},$$

38

A.2.4. Step 4: Schauder estimates for problem (4.2)-(4.3). In this step, we present the weighted Hölder estimates, which have been established in [29, 30]. The theorem below in this step is a direct consequence of these theorems for oblique derivative boundary value problems of the Poisson equation.

With the L^2 well-posedness established in Step 3, the a *priori* Schauder estimates for solution u have also been established in [29, 30], by employing Green's function and its delicate estimates. The Schauder estimates imply the well-posedness of problem (4.2)–(4.3) in the weighted Hölder spaces (*cf.* [29, 30] for detail calculations). As a direct consequence by using condition (A.19) in Theorem A.4, we have the following theorem:

Theorem A.6. Let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $\underline{\sigma} = \min(0, -\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*})$, and $\overline{\sigma} = \max(0, -\frac{\Phi}{\omega_*})$. Suppose that $\sigma_* \in (\underline{\sigma}, \overline{\sigma})$, $\kappa = 1 - \sigma_*$, $\sigma_j \in (\underline{\sigma}, \overline{\sigma})$ and $\beta_j = 2 + \alpha - \sigma_j$, j = 1, 2. Then, for any $\ell = 0, 1, \cdots$, if

$$f \in \mathcal{C}_{\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2}^{\ell,\alpha}(\mathscr{D}), \qquad g^{\pm} \in \mathcal{C}_{\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2}^{\ell+1,\alpha}\left(\Gamma^{\pm}\right),$$

solution $u \in V_{2,\kappa}^2(\mathscr{D})$ of problem (4.2)–(4.3) is also in $\mathcal{C}_{\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2}^{\ell+2,\alpha}(\mathscr{D})$ and satisfies the following estimate:

$$\|u\|_{(\ell+2,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2)} \le C\Big(\|f\|_{(\ell,\alpha;\mathscr{D})}^{(\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2)} + \sum_{\pm} \|g^{\pm}\|_{(\ell+1,\alpha;\Gamma_j)}^{(\ell+\beta_1,\ell+\beta_2)}\Big).$$

Theorem 4.4 is a special case of Theorem A.6 with $\ell = 0$.

Acknowlegements. The research of Gui-Qiang Chen was supported in part by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council Award EP/E035027/1 and EP/L015811/1, the NSFC under a joint project Grant 10728101, and the Royal Society - Wolfson Research Merit Award (UK). The research of Beixiang Fang was supported in part by Natural Science Foundation of China under Grant Nos. 11031001, 11371250, and 11631008, Shanghai Jiao Tong University's Chenxing SMC-B Project, the Shanghai Committee of Science and Technology (Grant No. 15XD1502300), and the joint research project "Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations – Theories and Applications" between Shanghai Jiao Tong University of Oxford. This work was initiated during Beixiang Fang's visit to the Oxford Center for Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations from March 2012 to February 2013, which is supported by the State Scholarship Fund of China Scholarship Council under File No. 2011831005.

References

- M. Bae, G.-Q. Chen, and M. Feldman, Prandtl-Meyer reflection for supersonic flow past a solid ramp. Quarterly Appl. Math. 71 (2013), 583–600.
- [2] A. Busemann, Gasdynamik, Handbuch der Experimentalphysik. Vol. IV. Akademische Verlagsgesellschaft: Leipzig, 1931.
- [3] M. Borsuk and V. Kondratiev, Elliptic Boundary Value Problems of Second Order in Piecewise Smooth Domains. North-Holland Mathematical Library, 69. Elsevier Science B.V.: Amsterdam, 2006.
- [4] G.-Q. Chen, J. Chen, and M. Feldman, Transonic flows with shocks past curved wedges for the full Euler equations. *Discrete Conti. Dyn. Syst.* 36 (2016), 4179–4211.

- [5] G.-Q. Chen and T. Li, Well-posedness for two-dimensional steady supersonic Euler flows past a Lipschitz wedge. J. Diff. Eqs. 244 (2008), 1521–1550.
- [6] G.-Q. Chen, Y.-Q. Zhang, and D.-W. Zhu, Existence and stability of supersonic Euler flows past Lipschitz wedges. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 181 (2006), 261–310.
- [7] S.-X. Chen, Asymptotic behavior of supersonic flow past a convex combined wedge. *China Ann. Math.* 19B (1998), 255–264.
- [8] S.-X. Chen, Global existence of supersonic flow past a curved convex wedge. J. Partial Diff. Eqs. 11 (1998), 73–82.
- [9] S.-X. Chen, Existence of local solution to supersonic flow past a three-dimensional wing. Adv. Appl. Math. 13 (1992), 273–304.
- [10] S.-X. Chen and B.-X. Fang, Stability of transonic shocks in supersonic flow past a wedge. J. Diff. Eqs. 233 (2007), 105–135.
- [11] R. Courant and K. O. Friedrichs, Supersonic Flow and Shock Waves. Springer-Verlag: New York, 1948.
- [12] C. Dafermos, Hyperbolic Conservation Laws in Continuum Physics, 4th Ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2016.
- [13] M. Dauge, Elliptic Boundary Value Problems on Corner Domains. Smoothness and Asymptotics of Solutions. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1341. Springer-Verlag: Berlin, 1988.
- [14] G. I. Eskin, Boundary value problems for second-order elliptic equations in domains with corners. In: *Pseudodifferential Operators and Applications (Notre Dame, Ind., 1984)*, pp. 105–131, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 43, AMS: Providence, RI, 1985.
- [15] B.-X. Fang, Stability of transonic shocks for the full Euler system in supersonic flow past a wedge. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 29 (2006), 1–26.
- [16] J. Glimm, Solutions in the large for nonlinear hyperbolic systems of equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 18 (1965), 697–715.
- [17] P. Grisvard, *Elliptic Problems in Nonsmooth Domains*. Monographs and Studies in Mathematics, 24. Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program): Boston, MA, 1985.
- [18] C.-H. Gu, A method for solving the supersonic flow past a curved wedge. Fudan J. (Nature Sci.), 7 (1962), 11–14.
- [19] B. L. Keyfitz and G. G. Warnecke, The existence of viscous profiles and admissibility of transonic shocks. *Commun. Partial Diff. Eqs.* 16 (1991), 1197–1221.
- [20] A. I. Komeč (Komech), Elliptic boundary value problems on manifolds with piecewise smooth boundary. Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 92 (134) (1973), 89–134, 166 (in Russian). English transl.: Math. USSR, Sb. 21 (1973), 91–135.
- [21] V. A. Kondrat'ev, Boundary-value problems for elliptic equations in domains with conical or angular points. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč. 16(1967), 209–292 (in Russian). English transl.: Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 16 (1967), 227-313.
- [22] V. A. Kondrat'ev and O. A. Oleinik, Boundary value problems for partial differential equations in non-smooth domains. Usp. Mat. Nauk, 38(2), 3–76 (in Russian). English transl.: Russ. Math. Surv. 38(2) (1983), 1–86.
- [23] V. A. Kozlov, V. G. Maz'ya, and J. Rossmann, Elliptic Boundary Value Problems in Domains with Point Singularities. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 52. AMS: Providence, RI, 1997.
- [24] T.-T. Li, On a free boundary problem. Chinese Ann. Math. 1 (1980), 351–358.
- [25] L. Li, G. Xu, and H. C. Yin, On the instability problem of a 3-D transonic oblique shock wave. Adv. Math. 282 (2015), 443–515.
- [26] V. G. Maz'ya and B. A. Plamenevskij, Problems with oblique derivatives in regions with piecewise smooth boundaries. *Funkcional. Anal. Prilozh*, 5 (1971), 102–103 (in Russian). English transl.: *Funct. Anal. Appl.* 5 (1971), 256–258.

- [27] V. G. Maz'ya and B. A. Plamenevskij, L_p-estimates of solutions of elliptic boundary value problems in domains with edges. Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obshch. 37 (1978), 49–93, 270 (in Russian). English transl.: Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 37 (1980), 49–97.
- [28] V. G. Maz'ya and B. A. Plamenevskij, Estimates in L_p and in Hölder classes, and the Miranda-Agmon maximum principle for the solutions of elliptic boundary value problems in domains with singular points on the boundary. Math. Nachr. 81 (1978), 25–82 (in Russian). English transl.: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 123(2), (1984), 1–56.
- [29] V. G. Maz'ya and B. A. Plamenevskij, Estimates of the Green functions and Schauder estimates of the solutions of elliptic boundary value problems in a dihedral angle. *Sibirsk. Mat. Zh.* **19** (1978), 1065–1082, 1214 (in Russian). English transl.: *Siberian Mathematical Journal*, **19(5)** (1978), 752–764.
- [30] V. G. Maz'ya and B. A. Plamenevskij, Schauder estimates for the solutions of elliptic boundary value problems in domains with edges on the boundary. *Partial Differential Equations (Russian)*, pp. 69–102, 143, Trudy Sem. S. L. Soboleva, No. 2, 1978, Akad. Nauk SSSR Sibirsk. Otdel., Inst. Mat., Novosibirsk, 1978 (in Russian). English transl.: Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 123(2) (1984), 141–169.
- [31] V. G. Maz'ya and J. Rossmann, *Elliptic Equations in Polyhedral Domains*. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 162. AMS: Providence, RI, 2010.
- [32] Th. Meyer, Über zweidimensionale Bewegungsvorgänge in einem Gas, das mit Überschallgeschwindigkeit strömt. Dissertation, Göttingen, 1908. Forschungsheft des Vereins deutscher Ingenieure, Vol. 62, Berlin, 1908, pp. 31–67.
- [33] B. A. Plamenevskij, Elliptic boundary value problems in domains with piecewise smooth boundary. *Encyclopaedia Math. Sci.* 79, Partial Differential Equations, IX, 217–281, Springer: Berlin, 1997.
- [34] L. Prandtl, Allgemeine Überlegungen über die Strömung zusammendrückbarer Flüssigkeiten. Zeitschrift für angewandte Mathematik und Mechanik, 16 (1936), 129–142.
- [35] H. Reisman, Second order elliptic boundary value problems in a domain with edges. Comm. Partial Diff. Eqs. 6 (1981), 1023–1042.
- [36] D. G. Schaeffer, Supersonic flow past a nearly straight wedge. Duke Math. J. 43 (1976), 637–670.
- [37] D. Serre, Von Neumann's comments about existence and uniqueness for the initial-boundary value problem in gas dynamics. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 47 (2010), 139–144.
- [38] John von Neumann, Discussion on the existence and uniqueness or multiplicity of solutions of the aerodynamical equations. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 47 (2010), 145–154.
- [39] H. C. Yin and C. Zhou, On global transonic shocks for the steady supersonic Euler flows past sharp 2-D wedges. J. Diff. Equ. 246 (2009), 4466–4496.
- [40] Y. Zhang, Global existence of steady supersonic potential flow past a curved wedge with piecewise smooth boundary. SIAM J. Math. Anal. 31 (1999), 166–183.
- [41] Y. Zhang, Steady supersonic flow past an almost straight wedge with large vertex angle. J. Diff. Eqs. 192 (2003), 1–46.

GUI-QIANG G. CHEN: MATHEMATICAL INSTITUTE, UNIVERSITY OF OXFORD, OXFORD, OX2 6GG, UK; AMSS & UCAS, CHINESE ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, BEIJING 100190, CHINA

E-mail address: chengq@maths.ox.ac.uk

BEIXIANG FANG: DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, AND MOE-LSC, SHANGHAI JIAO TONG UNIVER-SITY, SHANGHAI 200240, CHINA

E-mail address: bxfang@sjtu.edu.cn